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To Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | present to you the annual
results of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2010.

The impact of the financial tsunami in 2009 gradually subsided
and the Chinese Government launched new policies to restrict
mining and export of rare earth resources and products which
drove up the price of rare earth products. Turnover of the Group's
rare earth business still recorded notable growth benefitting from
the rise in prices, despite the drop in sales volume of rare earth
related products as a result of the Government'’s policy to limit the
supply and export quota of rare earth. As for upstream business,
the acquisition of Jianghua Yao Nationality Autonomous County
Xinghua Rare Earth Company Limited specialising in preliminary
separation of rare earth salts by groups in recent year has enabled
the Group to secure a reliable rare earth raw materials source and
thus a more steady supply. The acquisition has also increased sales
and broadened the Group’s income stream during the year under
review thanks to the increasing market demand for upstream rare

earth products.

For the Group's refractory materials business, although the Chinese
Government introduced economic stimulus measures, the utilisation
of refractory materials by the steel and glass industries has not
returned to the higher levels seen before the financial tsunami. The
Group intends to continue to integrate its operation, enhance cost
effectiveness and expand its upstream businesses. In addition, Phase
| of the Group’s high purity magnesium grains line has commenced
production in the fourth quarter of 2010 to realise synergies and

expand the Group's income stream.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2010, the Group recorded
a turnover of approximately HK$1,319,504,000, a rise of 9% when
compared with that of HK$1,211,683,000 in 2009. The turnover
from rare earth products was approximately HK$896,451,000,
an increase of 41% over last year (2009: HK$637,725,000) and
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accounting for about 68% of total turnover. The refractory materials
business brought in approximately HK$423,053,000 in turnover,
26% less than last year (2009: HK$573,958,000) and accounting
for about 32% of the Group’s total. The increase in sales and gross
profit margin of rare earth business offset the drop in sales and
gross profit margin of refractory materials business. The Group's
overall gross profit margin also increased slightly from approximately
19% last year to 22% this year.

Profit after taxation for the year under review amounted to
approximately HK$139,041,000 (2009: HK$84,683,000), a rise of
approximately 64% when compared with last year. Earnings per
share for this year were about HK8.48 cents (2009: HK5.75 cents).

DIVIDENDS
To retain funds for future development and to be better positioned

to capture growth opportunities as the economy revives, the Board

does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for 2010
(2009: nil).
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Rare Earth Business

BEFANRERTE - FRALH T EHKE During the year under review, the Chinese Government enhanced

REVRERE - MREHLOBED

EY:UNSL the implementation of measures to protect and better plan for the

WEHRTRESNEFHRE- PRI EOR development of strategic rare earth resources, including raising
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REHTE the threshold for new entrants to rare earth separating industry,
WERIFTE K tightening control over rare earth ore output and further reducing
ARZE| PR the export quota. These measures, plus the launch of innovative
T HAEREY consumer electronics products and the continuous recovery of
A% the motor vehicle industry have also driven market demand for

896,451,000/ 7T - EEEEF ZBIREFHNL6% rare earth products and thus their prices. Despite the substantial

EAEHI19% o

reduction of export quotas of rare earth by the Central Government
in the second half of 2010, turnover of the Group's rare earth
business still increased by approximately 41% to HK$896,451,000.
Overall gross profit margin also increased from 6% last year to

approximately 19%.

BLrEtMAFE AR mERFREETE M In the Group’s rare earth oxides division, as market demand has
FEBNNRESm I EEENEERVIFET generally improved and the regulation on rare earth ore output

HE 2EEEERE-DEF
A AEBERBEARATSLE L
2,000M %% + &1 ¥ » &
FFEERRB=K &
BERTEMEA
HbgEu ke
LRt A E R F

ag - atHE L
FrEE .8 &
L8 - |k

WA EANAZEA

B e HOAE @ BR
FEFEREOTESR

ko EHmLEtwE
BRRLTFEFBERRE M
THEFRFAGEORETH

by the Chinese Government affected supply, the price of
rare earth oxides rebounded notably. During the year
under review, the Group sold about 2,000 tonnes

of rare earth oxides within China, a growth of

more than 30% against last year, and the prices

also increased: the price of praseodymium

neodymium oxide and erbium oxide more

than doubled when compared with last year,

the price of lanthanum oxide increased by

- nearly 1.8 times, and the price of terbium
L oxide and dysprosium oxide rose by about
e — 50% to 90%. As for export, the strong market
5 ‘-‘ demand in the first half has continued to boost
- —

the price of rare earth oxides. The Government'’s
policy to reduce the export quota in the second half

has also pushed up the export price of rare earth oxides.

N BERIEH LS OERS Calculated on an annual average basis, the export prices rose as

BTt AEFETFHE - SEEA

B EFEE follows: lanthanum oxide more than two-fold from last year; cerium

RS - A - ST K56 - 28RN oxide and yttrium oxide by about 1.5 times; yttrium-europium co-
FH=RE - |kl - EtE - S Stha R precipitates by about 35% and gadolinium oxide, erbium oxide and

EAKTTE o AT R QAR

RIER D B terbium oxide by 60% to 70%. However, due to the sharp drop in
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the export quota, the export volume of rare earth oxides decreased

year-on-year by more than 50% to below 1,000 tonnes.

In terms of total volume, the output of rare earth oxides in 2010
jumped around 40% from 2009 to approximately 3,000 tonnes.
In terms of amount, major products including yttrium-europium
co-precipitates, praseodymium neodymium oxide and dysprosium
oxide occupied around 60% of the Group's production. Although
an intense supply shortage pushed up the material cost noticeably,
for instance, chlorinated rare earth rose about 60%, with oxidized
rare earth and carbonated rare earth up more than 100%, the
Group managed to transfer these rises onto customers by increasing
the selling prices of products. As a result, the gross profit of rare
earth oxides made a turnaround with gross profit margin reaching

approximately 22%.

To capture the opportunities presented by the recovering market
and the expected rise in rare earth raw material costs, the Group
has not only increased production, but has also invested more than
HK$400,000,000 in mass procurement of raw materials, including
over 10,000 tonnes of rare earth salts in 2010, more than doubled

when compared with that in 2009.

As for downstream products, the
Group's fluorescent powder and
polishing powder were mainly for the
domestic market, where customers
could not digest a significant increase
in selling prices. Thus, prices remained
at a similar level as that in 2009.
However, as the increase in the price
of rare earth oxides pushed up the
costs and suppressed gross profit,
the Group reduced the production and sales of downstream
products in the year under review. In 2010, only 350 tonnes were
sold, which was around a 27% drop against 2009. Gross profit
margin slipped to less than 10%. For upstream products, prices
increased significantly because of the limited supply nationwide
under the regulatory measures taken by the Chinese Government.

Therefore, the selling prices of the products produced by Jianghua
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Yao Nationality Autonomous County Xinghua Rare Earth Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, climbed by 30% to 40% in 2010
over 2009. In spite of the rise, higher material costs have dragged
down the gross profit margin to around 20% only. Besides, the
gross profit margin of another subsidiary, Heping County Dongye
Rare Earth Company Limited, also declined to less than 10% as the
increase in material costs exceeded those of product prices. During
the year under review, the two companies sold around 5,200 tonnes
of rare earth salts and around 360 tonnes of rare earth metals in

aggregate.

The domestic market in China remained the major income source of
the Group’s rare earth business. The export of rare earth oxides was
lower than last year due to the lower quota set by the Government.
However, the demand for rare earth oxides in China continued
to rise, and the Group's fluorescent powder, polishing powder,
rare earth salts and rare earth metals were mainly for domestic
consumption. The sales to China surged to account for around
82% of the total sales of rare earth segment during the year under
review, while those to Europe, Japan and the US occupied 9%, 5%

and 3% respectively.

Refractory Materials Business

During the year under review, the glass and steel industries in China
have not yet fully recovered from the financial tsunami and the
operating environment was particularly difficult during the first half
of the year. The stricter controls on costs implemented by companies
in those industries have put stronger pressure on the Group's
refractory materials business. Segmental turnover dropped around
26% from HK$573,958,000 to HK$423,053,000 and gross profit

margin was approximately 27%.

As for ordinary refractory materials, total sales volume of the Group
in 2010 were only approximately 45,000 tonnes, a drop of around
17% from 2009. Fused magnesium bricks and silicone carbide bricks
dropped more than 40%, magnesia-alumina spinel bricks dropped
around 80% and AZS bricks and corundum bricks only recorded
modest sales. However, supported by the steel industry demand
from Japan, refractory products mainly targeting overseas market,

notably fused magnesium-chrome bricks and alumina-graphite
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bricks, grew more than 10% and 35% respectively. In addition,
the Group’s new sales model provided after-sales services on top
of refractory materials to some customers. This move boosted the
sales volume of casting materials up approximately 80% compared
to 2009. However, as the price trend of different ordinary refractory
materials varies during the year, the sales amount dropped around

22% after the Group adjusted the product mix.

Material and fuel costs of the ordinary refractory materials division
showed an upward trend in the wake of changes in the overall
market. In 2010, the prices of major raw materials, such as brown
fused corundum, were around 10% higher than the previous year
on average. Prices of chromium concentrate rose nearly 20% while
those of fused chrome magnesite grains remained at a similar level
to last year. Fuel costs increased in step with international trends,
as the average price of heavy oil in 2010 climbed by around 25%
from the previous year. This rise plus the increasing average cost
as a result of the drop in output contributed to a decline in the
gross profit margin of the ordinary refractory materials business to

approximately 20%.

With major markets in China, the demand for high temperature
ceramics as with ordinary refractory materials has not fully
recovered. As the Chinese Government has increased its attention
to the policies for energy conservation and emissions reduction,
the market demand for thermal power has declined accordingly.
To cope with the market trend, the Group
has suspended the production lines of related
products in the second half year and continued
the operation of workshop for the Sialon product
series only, resulting in a year-on-year drop
of over 40% in overall sales volume of high
temperature ceramics. Currently, the Sialon
Series produced by the workshop primarily
include silicon nitride bonded silicon carbide
bricks, silicon carbide bricks and Sialon corundum
bricks. These products recorded a sales volume of

approximately 6,000 tonnes in 2010, similar to
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that of last year. The average selling price rose by approximately 5%

while gross profit margin remained at about 30%.

For the magnesium grain business, since such type of product is
an upstream raw material, the recovery of the demand was faster.
During the year under review, the Group sold 15,000 tonnes of
fused magnesium grain, up by more than 20% over last year. The
average price also climbed by approximately 15% and sales amount
rose strongly by about 40%. Gross profit margin maintained a
level similar to last year at about 20%. In a new direction, the
high purity magnesium grain project invested in by the Group has
commenced production in 2010 with sales starting in December.
Since the project was at its initial phase and sold approximately
2,000 tonnes of high purity magnesium grain, its profit contribution
was still limited at the moment. The Group planned to increase
the production volume of high purity magnesium grain gradually
to seize growth opportunities in the market and improve overall
profitability of its refractory materials business.

As a result of the Group’s efforts in expanding into other overseas
markets, a small amount of its products has begun to sell to Korea
and Taiwan. The proportion of exports within the Group's overall
refractory materials sales was approximately 24%. The proportion of
domestic sales within China dropped to approximately 76%.

PROSPECTS

The demand for rare earth is expected to surge benefitting from the
reviving global economy, the improving business environment of
electronic products industry and the intimate relationship between
rare earth and some industries. These include energy saving and
environmental protection, alternative energy, new energy vehicles
and new materials, which are included within the seven strategic
emerging industries designated by the Chinese Government. On
the other hand, the Central Government is stepping up efforts to
consolidate the entire rare earth industry to phase out sub-standard
and highly polluted production, to create favourable conditions
for sustainable growth of the country as well as the industry. With
its top industry position in terms of production efficiency and
environmental protection measures, the Group is set to benefit from
further consolidation of the industry.
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The Chinese Government will continue to conserve rare earth
resources in China by means of export quotas for rare earth
products and adjustment of the export tax rate. Besides, it will
tighten the control over rare earth mining to reduce resource
wastage. On the other hand, the Group believes more supportive
policies will be launched by the Government to maintain sustainable
growth of the industry. With the total production scale of the
domestic rare earth industry under the effective control of the
Government, the export of rare earth products is expected to
decline continuously and the price
of mainstream rare earth products
will remain at a high level and thus
the profit generated by the entire
industry is expected to maintain
sustainable growth. The demand
for rare earth will grow stronger
due to economic growth in the long
run. The prices of rare earth should
also remain at a high level due to
the demand-over-supply situation.
Hence, the Group remains optimistic
about the development of the entire
rare earth industry. It has prudently utilised its capital to acquire
rare earth resources to fully capture the growth opportunities in the
market and enhance domestic sales to offset the effects of export

declines and the decreasing supply of some rare earth raw materials.

Looking ahead, the Group will adjust its product portfolio
strategically by expanding into downstream product businesses such
as fluorescent materials and polishing powder to seize business
opportunity and increasing the sales of upstream rare earth salt
products in a bid to further the vertical integration of its industry
chain. Construction of Phase | at the production facility of OSRAM
(China) Fluorescent Materials Co., Ltd., a joint venture set up with
OSRAM GmbH, is accerlerating its construction progress. Ensuring
the construction quality of the production facility, Phase | of the new
facility is expected to commence operation in June to July in 2011
with an annual production capacity of 1,000 tonnes of tri-band

phosphors.
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As for the refractory materials business, despite the uncertainties
in the property market in China, the measures of the Central
Government such as the provision of low-income housing are
conducive to the whole construction market, driving the demand
for refractory materials such as cement, steel and glass. The Group
believes that the refractory materials business will remain stable
and the development of the cement industry will be particularly
encouraging. The Group is negotiating with a leading Japanese
enterprise, one of the Fortune 500 companies, to introduce its
leading-edge technology. It expects to set up a new joint venture
with the prospective partner to build production lines for industrial
ceramics used in the cement industry at the site of the suspended
high temperature ceramics production lines to meet the growing
demand from the cement industry. Moreover, after operations
commenced at the Group’s high purity magnesium grain production

facility late last year, the high purity magnesium grain

-

*J:; ’ business is expected to generate a satisfactory profit

contribution to the Group as it becomes a

*) new growth driver starting from 2011.
P To streamline operations and reduce
5. operating costs, the Group is also
preparing to modify and relocate part of
the suspended high temperature ceramics
production lines so as to merge with the
operations of the ordinary refractory materials

production facility.

Long ahead, adhering to its healthy operating strategies, the
Group will continue to streamline its business structure, improve
its research and development standard and enhance production
efficiency. The Group will also continue to strengthen the vertical
integration of its business lines and pursue a diversified product
strategy to reinforce its leading presence in the rare earth processing

industry.

PLACING OF SHARES

During the year, the Company embarked on a fund raising exercise.
During October 2010, the Company issued 120,000,000 new shares
at HK$3.95 per share by way of top-up placing, increasing the
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number of the Group’s issued shares to 1,671,943,059. The net

proceeds from the placing are to be used as general working capital.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has continued to maintain prudent capital arrangements.
During the year, the Group had repaid all the balance of unsecured
bank loans at US$30,000,000 raised previously. On the other hand,
the Group pledged deposits at RMB84,900,000 in order to acquire
short term bank loans at RMB80,000,000 for subsidiaries in the PRC.
As at 31 December 2010, the Group has cash and bank deposits
at approximately HK$1,331,573,000 including the mentioned
pledged deposits. In addition, the Group also pledged certain trade
receivables at US$768,000 to obtain trade facilities at US$690,000
as at the end of the year. The Group had a balance of net current
assets valued at approximately HK$2,093,870,000, with the total

liabilities to total assets ratio at around 9%.

Except for the stated deposits and trade receivables pledged,
the Group had no other charge on assets. There was no material

contingent liability.

The Group did not hold any financial derivative products. Except
for the interest rate differential in bank deposits with the stated
bank loans, it was not exposed to material risk from interest rate
fluctuations. Regarding foreign exchange, most of the Group's
assets, liabilities and transactions are denominated in Renminbi, and
the rest are in US dollars or Hong Kong dollars. During the year, the
Group was not exposed to material foreign exchange risks caused
by appreciation of the Renminbi. The exchange rate of the US dollar

and Hong Kong dollar was relatively stable.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had a workforce of
approximately 1,200 including new recruits among university
graduates as well as experienced professionals. The Group
provides a comprehensive staff remuneration and welfare system,
including a share option scheme, to motivate staff to contribute

their best efforts. During the year, the Group spent approximately
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HK$44,518,000 on staff costs including directors’ emoluments. It
has also provided regular on-the-job training to employees to help

them maintain professional standards.

APPRECIATION
It is the unwavering support and trust of shareholders, investors,

customers, suppliers and business partners and the dedicated efforts
of the entire staff that have enabled the Group to grow steadily over
the years. On behalf of the Board and the management, | wish to

express my heartfelt gratitude to all of you.

Jiang Quanlong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2011
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr Jiang Quanlong, aged 58, is a founding member and the

chairman of the Group. Mr Jiang is responsible for the formulation
of the Group's overall business development policies. Mr Jiang is
recognized as a senior economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel
Department. Mr Jiang has over 30 years of experience in the rare
earth and refractory materials industries. Prior to the founding of
the Group, Mr Jiang had been a factory manager of a refractory
materials production plant and a sales manager of a glass and
ceramics manufacturing company. Besides, Mr Jiang is also the
chairman and an executive director of Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and the sole director of YY
Holding Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr Jiang
is the husband of Ms Qian Yuanying, the deputy chairman of the
Group.

Ms Qian Yuanying, aged 51, is a founding member and the deputy
chairman of the Group. Ms Qian is also the chief executive officer
of the Group. Ms Qian is responsible for the overall management
of the Group and has particular responsibility for the marketing
aspect of the Group's business. Ms Qian is recognized as a senior
economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel Department, and she
is also qualified as a Chinese Career Manager. Ms Qian has over
20 years of experience in the rare earth and refractory materials
industries. Prior to the founding of the Group, Ms Qian was a high
school teacher. Ms Qian is the wife of Mr Jiang Quanlong, the

chairman of the Group.

Mr Jiang Cainan, aged 52, joined the Group in 1986 and was
appointed as an executive director in 2005. Mr Jiang is also the
general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory Materials
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation and sales
of refractory materials business. Mr Jiang has over 30 years of

experience in the refractory materials industry.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr Liu Yujiu, aged 77, joined the Group in 1999 as an independent

non-executive director of the Company. Mr Liu was the head
of the Rare-Earth Experts Group, Applications and Development
Section under the State Planning Commission. Currently Mr Liu is
an honorary executive of China Rare Earth Science Society and a
member of the editorial committee of China Rare Earth Journal.
Mr Liu was appointed as chief engineer of China Rare Earth
Development Corporation for the period from December 1992 to
December 1997.

Mr Huang Chunhua, aged 46, joined the Group in 2001 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr Huang
obtained a Ph.D degree in Marketing and an MBA degree from
University of Strathclyde and a Bachelor degree in Economics from
Wuhan University. Currently Mr Huang is the deputy chairman and
an executive director of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited, the shares of
which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. For
the period from May 2007 to April 2009, Mr Huang was a director
and China equity market strategist of BNP Paribas Securities (Asia)
Limited. Prior to that he was the deputy chairman of Hybrid Kinetic
Group Limited between November 2002 and October 2007 and an
analyst of various securities companies. Mr Huang has extensive

knowledge and experience in financial market.

Mr Jin Zhong, aged 59 joined the Group in 2004 as an independent
non-executive director of the Company. Mr Jin graduated from the
Faculty of Material Engineering of Wuhan Steel College, specializing
in refractory studies. Mr Jin was previously the deputy chief engineer

of the head factory of Guiyang City Refractory Materials Factory.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Law Lap Tak, aged 41, joined the Group in 1999. Mr Law is
the financial controller and company secretary of the Company. Mr
Law graduated in Hong Kong with a degree of bachelor of business
administration. Mr Law is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Law was an

audit manager in an international accounting firm in Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Yu Zhengming, aged 75, joined the Group in 1999. Mr Yu
is the chief engineer and technical consultant of Yixing Xinwei
Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr Yu was the factory general manager and chief engineer of a
renowned rare earth factory. Mr Yu is an expert in rare earth and

non-ferrous metals industries.

Mr Xu Jianwen, aged 42, joined the Group in 1998. Mr Xu is the
general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company
Limited and is responsible for the operation of rare earth business.
Mr Xu has over 20 years of experience in production management in

the rare earth industry.

Mr Wu Chaoxin, aged 34, joined the Group in 1997. Mr Wu is the
general manager of Wuxi Xinwei Fluorescent Materials Company
Limited and is responsible for the operation of the fluorescent
materials business. Mr Wu has years of experience in sales and
administrative management of rare earth and fluorescent materials

industries.

Mr Wang Jianping, aged 49, joined the Group in 2004. Mr Wang
is the general manager of Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature Ceramics
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of the high
temperature ceramics business. Mr Wang has over 15 years of

experience in administrative management and sales.

Mr Wu Quanming, aged 46, joined the Group in 1984. Mr Wu
is the general manager of Haicheng City Suhai Magnesium Ore
Company Limited and Hai Cheng Xinwei Leeshing Magnesium
Resources Company Limited and is responsible for the operation
of magnesium grains business. Mr Wu has extensive management

experience in raw material supply of refractory materials.

Mr Zhao Jianwen, aged 44, joined the Group in 1987. Mr Zhao is
the head of technology department of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare
Earth Company Limited. Mr Zhao has over 20 years of experience in

the rare earth industry.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate

governance practices and procedures. The Company has adopted
its own code of corporate governance based on the principles and
code provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the "CG Code"”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Throughout the year ended
31 December 2010, the Company has complied with the code

provisions set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiry, the Company confirms that all directors
have complied with the required standards as stated in the code

throughout the year ended 31 December 2010.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company is governed by a Board of directors which is
responsible for directing and supervising its affairs and oversight
of the Group’s businesses, strategic decision and performance.
Execution of the Board’'s decisions and daily operations are
delegated to the management. The Board comprises four executive

directors and three independent non-executive directors as follows:

Executive directors: Mr Jiang Quanlong (Chairman), Ms Qian
Yuanying (Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer), Ms Xu
Panfeng and Mr Jiang Cainan. (Ms Xu Panfeng resigned during the

year.)

Independent non-executive directors: Mr Liu Yujiu, Mr Huang
Chunhua and Mr Jin Zhong.
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BOARD COMPOSITION (Continued)
The Board held eleven meetings during the year. Details of the

attendance were as follows:

Director Attendance
Jiang Quanlong 11/11
Qian Yuanying 11/1
Xu Panfeng 0/11
Jiang Cainan 11/11
Liu Yujiu 11/11
Huang Chunhua 10/11
Jin Zhong 11/11

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS
Each newly appointed director receives comprehensive, formal and

tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as
to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of
his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and

relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to directors whenever

necessary.

PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS
Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at

least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee

meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company
and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and
each director also have separate and independent access to the

senior management whenever necessary.
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PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS (Continued)
The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for

directors’ inspection.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a
director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly

convened Board meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Although Mr Jiang Quanlong, the Chairman of the Board, is the
husband of Ms Qian Yuanying, the Chief Executive Officer, their
roles and responsibilities are separated. The Chairman is responsible
for the formulation of the Group’s overall business development
policies while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the

overall management of the Group's business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors of the Company are highly
skilled professionals with expertise and experience in the field of
financial management and businesses related to the Group. They
advise the Company on strategy development and enable the
Board to maintain high standards of compliance of financial and
other mandatory reporting requirements and provide adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and the Company as a whole. Each of the independent non-
executive directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of two years. The Company has received
written confirmations from all independent non-executive directors
concerning their independence. The Board considers that all of them

are independent.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee comprises all independent non-executive

directors of the Company, namely, Mr Liu Yujiu, Mr Huang Chunhua
and Mr Jin Zhong. The committee is chaired by Mr Liu Yujiu. The
audit committee has held regular meetings during the year and it
has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Company and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the interim and annual

results of the Company for the year.

The terms of reference of the audit committee, which are in
compliance with the CG Code are available from the Company

Secretary upon request from any shareholders of the Company.

During the year, there were two audit committee meetings.

Attendance of the directors were as follows:

Director Attendance
Liu Yujiu 2/2
Huang Chunhua 172
Jin Zhong 2/2

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The remuneration committee comprises Mr Jiang Quanlong, the
Chairman of the Board, and all independent non-executive directors
of the Company, namely, Mr Liu Yujiu, Mr Huang Chunhua and Mr
Jin Zhong. The committee is chaired by Mr Jiang Quanlong.

The principal function of the remuneration committee is to make
recommendations to the Board of directors on the Company’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of directors and senior

management, and to review their specific remuneration package.

The terms of reference of the remuneration committee, which are
in compliance with the CG Code are available from the Company

Secretary upon request from any shareholders of the Company.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
During the year, there was one remuneration committee meeting.

Attendance of the directors were as follows:

Director Attendance
Jiang Quanlong 171
Liu Yujiu il
Huang Chunhua il
Jin Zhong 171

During the meeting, the remuneration committee reviewed the
remuneration policy and recommended the remuneration packages

of directors.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company does not have a nomination committee at present.
According to the Articles of Association of the Company, the Board
of directors has the power to appoint any person as a director
either to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board. The
nomination should be taken into consideration of the nominee’s
qualifications, ability and potential contributions to the Company.
The Board considers that the current Board composition is

appropriate.

ROTATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company’s Articles of Association specify that every director
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Ms Qian

Yuanying and Mr Liu Yujiu will retire by rotation.

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration in respect of statutory audit
services (including interim review) provided by the auditors of the
Company was HK$3,420,000. There was no other non-audit service

provided by the auditors.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

It is the directors’ responsibility for the preparation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and the results and cash flows for each financial period.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors have to ensure
that appropriate accounting policies are adopted. The financial

statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate
system of internal controls of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Board has delegated to the management the
implementation and evaluation of the system of internal controls.
With the assistance of an external advisor, the Group has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control and reported the key findings to the audit committee. The
review covers major and material controls in areas of financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management

functions.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board.
The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the audit
committee and remuneration committee, or in their absence,
their duly appointed delegates are available to answer questions
at the shareholders’ meetings. Separate resolutions are proposed
at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including the
election of individual directors. Notice of the annual general meeting
together with related papers are sent to the shareholders at least
20 clear business days before the meeting, setting out details of
each proposed resolution, voting procedures and other relevant
information. All votes of shareholders at the general meeting will be
decided by poll. The Chairman will demand that all resolutions put
to the vote at the annual general meeting will be taken by poll and
will explain such rights and procedures during the annual general
meeting before voting on the resolutions. An independent scrutineer
will be appointed to count the votes and the poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited after the annual general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS
(Continued)

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintain regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to
keep them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from

investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also maintains
a website at www.creh.com.hk, where extensive information and
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,

financial information and other information are posted.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report and the
audited financial statements of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and sales of rare

earth products and refractory products.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 20 to

the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Details of segmental information of the Group are set out in Note 15

to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 41 of the

annual report.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2010.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise the share
premium account and accumulated profits. As at 31 December
2010, the reserves of the Company available for distribution to
shareholders amounted to HK$1,868,487,000.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results of the Group for the past five financial

years is set out on page 160 of the annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
CONSTRUCTION-IN-PROGRESS

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
construction-in-progress of the Group during the year are set out in

Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the authorized and issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2010 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated

financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Details of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2010 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
Details of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in Note

11 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report are:

Executive directors

Mr Jiang Quanlong (Chairman)

Ms Qian Yuanying (Deputy Chairman)

Mr Jiang Cainan

Ms Xu Panfeng (resigned on 28 May 2010)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr Liu Yujiu

Mr Huang Chunhua

Mr Jin Zhong

In accordance with Articles 108(A) and (B) of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Ms Qian Yuanying and Mr Liu Yujiu will retire by
rotation from the Board at the forthcoming annual general meeting

and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

As at 31 December 2010, none of the directors has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other

than statutory compensation.



ESEHSE

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ESWHRAR
RZZE—ZTF+_A=+—0H  ARFKE[EH
MBS GG FE3521EMTFE 2 B MARMAH -« =
KIEEMARESETEARR IMIZETRMB
MARRREBHER
WARABIEERITHRBE LEBEATHNAEARF
REMEBAR RN HERDREFOERRK

REWMT:

1. RELXFTROER

=

Director

7R EE

Jiang Quanl

BT R

ong

Qian Yuanying

Kt -

SERDR ([BRF])

1. Interests in shares of the Company
EEME 55 ROHE
Number of
Nature of interest/Capacity Shares

fEsian,/ TREARZES

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of the

directors and chief executive of the Company and their associates

in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company

and its associated corporations as recorded in the register kept by

the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures

Ordinance (“SFO") or as otherwise notified to the Company and

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

of Listed Issuers were as follows:

595,200,000

Interest of spouse/Interest of

controlled corporation

EFEZILA

Founder of a trust

ZEMRD THEBYY Holdings Limitedis A » £ 25
BEITRARBYY Trustd) % 5E AYYT (PTC) Limited
FifsE MERARBRELENEBEITRL
TREFZZERBHAR  LEFLHE KM
EXVEZ EFRIBETELZ T AYY TrustBIp LA © 8
RBESLA AYY Holdings Limited# M —2E % o

595,200,000

Note:

EARRFE BT
BRENED

% to the issued share

capital of the Company

35.60%

35.60%

These shares are held through YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued
share capital of which is held by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY
Trust, the discretionary object of which is a company wholly owned by
Ms Qian Yuanying, the spouse of Mr Jiang Quanlong, and her children.
Ms Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within the meaning under
Part XV of the SFO. Mr Jiang Quanlong is the sole director of YY

Holdings Limited.
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2. REBATKREG  HEAROIRAELS 2.
@ WMHERERLA

(b)

= BEME 50

Nature of interest/

Director Capacity
R BEnEAA
Jiang Quanlong Beneficial owner
BT BREBA

Qian Yuanying Beneficial owner

BRI L FIRZL A

Interests in shares, underlying shares or equity interests in

associated corporations
(a) Microtech Resources Limited

HEZATAEBITRAS
BRAERREE ZRAERNE S
% in the class of

shares in the issued

Number and share capital
class of issued shares of the Company
ERZEBRTERH7,000,0008 70%

7,000,000 non-voting

deferred shares
#1 EREIRAE AR 173,000,0004% 30%
3,000,000 non-voting

deferred shares

(b)  Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited

= BEME 57 BREEZBDL
Director Nature of interest/Capacity % equity interest
R RERA 2w 5%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation

Wat - Note:

ZERGNBEBEETHERERA RN
BoZPECXMBRELEREFIONE
& BTHI0%ESHEFRA - BELED
REEEREERRA -

The equity interest is held by Yixing Xinwei Group Co., Ltd., a
PRC domestic enterprise 90% owned by Mr Jiang Quanlong, with
the remaining 10% owned by his son. Mr Jiang is also the legal
representative of the enterprise.
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(c)  YY Holdings Limited

=2

Director

-
Qian Yuanying

TR
Qian Yuanying

R

Jiang Quanlong

R RE

Jiang Quanlong

BEUE 5147

Nature of interest/

Capacity

EREZBNILA

Founder of a trust

fRREZAILA

Founder of a trust

ERE YN
Interest of controlled

corporation

B3NS 5
Interest of controlled

corporation

YY Holdings Limited®) 2 52 31 TIR AR YY
Trustf) 2 5EAYYT (PTC) LimitedfTi54A »
HIYBZAABBREAENREBETRELZLR
HF X2 BHANRE - BEFRBAE KA
BEXVEZ EFEBILHZ T BYY TrustMIpK L
A o BREEEEBYYT (PTC) Limiteds I —

g%

BERBES  R-F-BFT=A=T -8 -
R[5 R D) 352 FT T B 2 B R
METE - BEADAEERTRARRLBEA
TRARTREEHAAZRE - ABRS RE
545 SRR A5 E A 28 AR -

(c) YY Holdings Limited

BRITKROBE

Number of

issued shares

BB 1

1 ordinary share

1B 5 i 19 25,0000%

25,000 preference shares

BB 1

1 ordinary share

B 5819 25,0008%
25,000 preference shares

Note:

EZATEBITREF
ZROERNES
% in the class of
shares in the issued
share capital

of the Company

100%

100%

100%

100%

The entire issued share capital of YY Holdings Limited is held
by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the discretionary
object of which is a company wholly owned by Ms Qian
Yuanying, the spouse of Mr Jiang Quanlong, and her children. Ms
Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within the meaning under
Part XV of the SFO. Mr Jiang Quanlong is the sole director of YYT

(PTC) Limited.

the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the
directors or chief executive of the Company and their associates had
or was deemed to have any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated

corporations as recorded in the register kept under Section 352 of
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 4 June 2004, the shareholders of the Company approved the
termination of the share option scheme adopted on 14 October
1999 (the “Old Scheme”) and the adoption of a new scheme (the
“New Scheme"”) for the purpose of coping with the amendments
introduced to Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing Rules”). Upon the
termination of the Old Scheme, no further options would be offered
pursuant to the Old Scheme but the Old Scheme would in all other
respects remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of the outstanding options granted under it prior to
its termination, and such outstanding options will continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with the provisions of the Old

Scheme.

The major terms of the New Scheme are as follows:

1. The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or

rewards for their contribution to the Group.

2. The eligible participants included any employee (whether full-
time or part-time, including any executive director), any non-
executive director, any shareholder, any supplier and any
customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest, and any party having contribution to the development

and growth of the Group.

3. Under the New Scheme, the total number of shares available
for issue is 98,695,305 which represents approximately 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of

adoption of the New Scheme.

4. The maximum entitlement of each participant under the New
Scheme in any 12-month period should not exceed 1% of the

issued share capital of the Company for the time being.
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5. BHEEREZATEAHITHAEFERSET - 5. The exercisable period of an option granted may be
BT RBENAETFRER - determined by the directors and which should not end later

than 10 years after the date of offer.

6. AMELEREZZENATHBEENRENA 6. Any offer for the grant of an option may be accepted by
R+t —BANRNHREUETER - the participant within 21 days from the date of offer with a
consideration of HK$1 paid.

7. fIEEUBEFEETE ATALRTIE 7. The exercise price may be determined by the directors provided

BzRERE : that it should not be less than the highest of:

. ZHAEBARRTRONEERMEAR i.  the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
BRATZWHE: in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date

of offer;

i. ZEZHNEANAELZFEAARARTR ii. the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
NREBRAERREBERAT 2 TR stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
mE: Rk the five business days immediately preceding the date of

offer; and

ii.  ARABEE -

ii. the nominal value of a share of the Company.

8. #FEEE=—TTMEA+NA - BIEETE 8. The New Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years

WERMARTERBR - from 18 June 2004, the date on which the New Scheme was
adopted.
RAFER - WEBREZRAEIEEL - 176 - During the year, no option was granted, exercised, cancelled or
HUB sk R Ak lapsed under the New Scheme.
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Employees
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Details of options which have been granted under the Old Scheme

and remained outstanding as at 31 December 2010 are as follows:

BREHAE
Number of options

R-Z-%F R-B-%F

TEE —A—BEH RERTE +=A=+-BRE
Held at Exercised Held at

Exercise 1 January during 31 December
price 2010 the year 2010
1.10%7T 1,500,000 800,000 700,000

HK$1.10

The options granted are exercisable between 27 January 2003 to 26
January 2013, provided that 50% of the options granted shall not
be exercised prior to 27 January 2004.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement,
which enable any of the directors or chief executive of the Company
or their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS
So far as is known to the directors, as at 31 December 2010,

the interests and short positions of shareholders, other than the
directors or chief executive of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

1. YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which
is held by YYT (PTC) Limited, was holding 595,200,000 shares
of the Company, representing approximately 35.60% of the

issued share capital of the Company as beneficial owner.

2. YYT (PTC) Limited was deemed to be interested in 595,200,000
shares of the Company held by YY Holdings Limited the entire
issued share capital of which is held by YYT (PTC) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other party, other than the directors or
chief executive of the Company, had notified the Company that he
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register kept under Section 336
of the SFO as at 31 December 2010.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

During the year, the Group leased two office premises from Mr
Jiang Quanlong for use as its sales and marketing office. During the
year, the total operating lease rentals paid in respect of these leases

amounted to approximately HK$250,000.

During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$61,000 as
a compensation to Wuxi Pan-Asia Environmental Protection
Technologies Limited, a related company in which Ms Qian Yuanying
and Mr Jiang Quanlong were deemed to have beneficial interests,

for the use as office premises.

During the year, the Group received approximately HK$3,000
as rental income from Wuxi Pan-Asia Environmental Protection

Technologies Limited for sharing portion of land use rights.
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Save as disclosed above and in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, no director had a beneficial interest, either direct or
indirect, in any contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party at the year-end date or at any

time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of

the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was

entered into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE

COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
There has been no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the

Company’s listed securities by the Group during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to

the Group's major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
- the largest customer 13%
— five largest customers combined 36%
Purchases
— the largest supplier 19%
— five largest suppliers combined 55%

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders which
to the knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital has any interest in the share capital

of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Cayman Islands
Companies Law in relation to the issue of new shares by the

Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and

within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the

year.

AUDITORS
CCIF CPA Limited retires and, being eligible, offers itself for re-

appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Quanlong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RARE EARTH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 41 to 159, which comprise
the consolidated and Company statements of financial position as
at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 31 December 2010 and of the Group's profit and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

CCIF CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 March 2011

Ho Chun Shing
Practising Certificate Number P04396
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

BE-E-Z2F+=-A=+—HIHFE For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other revenue

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other income, net

Finance costs

Profit before taxation

Income tax

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share

— Basic

- Diluted

statements.

B &
Note

12

e “EThEF
2010 2009
FTERT FHET
HKS$' 000 HK$" 000
1,319,504 1,211,683
(1,031,430) (980,246)
288,074 231,437
9,887 19,310
(49,600) (38,306)
(69,183) (58,314)
6,979 8,183
(8,438) (17,968)
177,719 144,342
(38,678) (59,659)
139,041 84,683
133,359 84,593
5,682 90
139,041 84,683
AL Rl

HK cents HK cents
8.48 5.75

8.48 5.75

The notes on pages 50 to 159 form part of these financial
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE-Z2-—ZF+=A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

i3
Note
AN [ N A Profit for the year
rEEHMEZE RS Other comprehensive income
(MERBEE) for the year (net of tax)
BREGINEB I B RE Exchange differences on translation
2R R of financial statements of foreign
operations
BIEERZEFEGRS Surplus on revaluation of
buildings held for own use 17(a)(ii)
BIEEBRAZEBFER Deferred tax on revaluation of
EERIE buildings held for own use 30(b)
MEEB L IRTERIR Deferred tax arising on change
in tax rate 30(b)
AR ERERES Fair value loss on available-for-sale
NEEER equity securities 22
rEEXHKEAE Total comprehensive income

for the year

PEAL : Attributable to:
KARIEE A Owners of the Company
FEFE AR Non-controlling interests
rEEXEKEAE Total comprehensive income

for the year

—g-8F  -IIhS
2010 2009
FH7 FHT
HK$'000 HK$"000
139,041 84,683
96,982 3,966
19,063 =
(4,055) =
1,537 -
(15,760) =
236,808 88,649
229,545 88,512
7,263 137
236,808 88,649

ES50BE1598 2 MFBRM B RE LR —51H - The notes on pages 50 to 159 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-—ZB—-ZBF+=-A=+—A As at 31 December 2010

FREBEE Non-current assets
&S Goodwill
M BEREE Property, plant and equipment

AR TEN THHES Prepaid lease payments on land under

operating leases

BRLAE Intangible assets
A EERES Available-for-sale equity securities
EHEARITIER Pledged bank deposits
X IR HISRT 4 R Restricted bank balance
RERIBEEE Deferred tax assets
REEE Current assets

KERHTES LHHAS Prepaid lease payments on land under

operating leases

rE Inventories

JFE W32 B R % L A KK Trade and other receivables

B RIERES Prepayments and deposits

A Uz Bl F I Tax recoverable

X PR ISR 4 R Restricted bank balances

BekFAeFEEE Cash and cash equivalents
REAE Current liabilities

JE 1< BR R Trade payables

TR B A R H b FE 15 5K Accruals and other payables

BN EEHRIE Amounts due to directors

R—FREERITER Bank borrowings due within one year

JRE A~ 35 38 Tax payable
MREEEFRE Net current assets
EELAERRBAEE Total assets less current liabilities

B &
Note

17(a)

18
19
22
26
26
30(b)

18
23
24
24
30(a)
26
27

28
28
25
29
30(a)

—E-EF —TENF
2010 2009
TExT TAET
HK$' 000 HK$"000
88,971 85,980
613,923 635,542
271,035 257,106
329,921 349,223
14,240 =
99,777 =

- 23,250

24,158 21,639
1,442,025 1,372,740
6,184 5,756
611,727 234,590
368,415 467,395
98,079 68,645
8,586 16,509
2,868 8,822
1,228,928 1,065,124
2,324,787 1,866,841
80,723 76,625
40,742 53,660
270 709
99,389 108,158
9,793 18,807
230,917 257,959
2,093,870 1,608,882
3,535,895 2,981,622
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R-—Z—-FF+=-A=+—H8 As at 31 December 2010
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—g-8F  -TThF
2010 2009
Bt & FTERT FHET
Note HKS$' 000 HK$" 000
Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings 29 - 135,625
Deferred tax liabilities 30(b) 94,960 97,878
94,960 233,503
NET ASSETS 3,440,935 2,748,119
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 31(b) 167,194 155,114
Reserves 31(a) 3,237,179 2,563,706
Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 3,404,373 2,718,820
Non-controlling interests 36,562 29,299
TOTAL EQUITY 3,440,935 2,748,119

statements.

Jiang Quanlong

Director

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30
March 2011.

Qian Yuanying

Director

The notes on pages 50 to 159 form part of these financial
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-—ZB—-ZBF+=-A=+—A As at 31 December 2010

FERBEE

ME - BE RRE
REBRRIZRE
A E RS E
X HIERTT AR

RBEE

P W B R B Lt AR

BENRBERRE
& W Bt B 2 B RO
X HIERIT 4 ER
RehReFEER

RBAE

IR E A R A AR

FE B B8 2 B 50R
N ESFR

R—F AR RITER

RBEEFE

EERBERADAME

FRBEE
RITE K

BERE

BEAXRf#E
A
8

BEAE

BEER T ——F=A=TAERIRETE -

BREE
EF

H50EE 1598 2 MR BREREL S —5PD °

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Available-for-sale equity securities
Restricted bank balance

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments and deposits
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Restricted bank balance
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Amounts due to directors
Bank borrowings due within one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

March 2011.

fi Jiang Quanlong
Director

EF

statements.

B &
Note

17(b)
20
22
26

24
24
25
26
27

28
25
25
29

29

—E-ZF —EThF
2010 2009
FHET FHT
HK$' 000 HK$'000
25 35
151,707 151,707
14,240 -

- 23,250

165,972 174,992
29 67

850 746
1,719,734 1,364,910
- 5,279
138,617 293,622
1,859,230 1,664,624
4,747 7,297
264 255

270 875

- 96,875

5,281 105,302
1,853,949 1,559,322
2,019,921 1,734,314
- 135,625
2,019,921 1,598,689
167,194 155,114
1,852,727 1,443,575
2,019,921 1,598,689

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30

Qian Yuanying

Director

The notes on pages 50 to 159 form part of these financial
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-ZE—-FF+-A=+1—HIEE For the year ended 31 December 2010

KAREARGRR

Attributable to owners of the Company

Rs  RBER  EAER  BTEMERE  MEEE  EXGR  OTERR  REMW 88 ABEREE £

Buildings Non-
Share Share Capital ~ revaluation Statutory  Translation Fair value Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests Total

TEn TEn Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin T T Tn
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

NZEENE-A-A At 1 January 2009 14,114 1,152,531 0348 2979 138,307 178469 - 680,802 2,444,367 2,16 2473529
2akE Comprehensive income
REREH Profit for the year - - - - - - - 84,593 84,593 ] 84,583
Efp2ENE Other comprehensive income
BEENRRIRER Exchange differences on tranghtion
LERER of financil statements of
foreign operations - - - - - 3919 - - 3919 a7 3,966
FEERBTER Transfr o retaned profits
FEERZREEH respect of deprecition on
revaluation of buidings
held for own use - - - (2782 - - - 278 - - -
2EhEEE Total comprehensive income - - - (278 - 3919 - 87375 88512 137 88,649
BHEALRS Transactions with owners
ERRNEEX RN lsue of new shares by
share placement 13,000 182,000 - - - - - - 195,000 - 195,000
iHRA RATE Transaction costs attibutable to
issue of new shares - (9,059) - - - - - - (9,059) - (9,059)
AREEEGE Appropriations to statutory
TESeIves - - - - 10,205 - - (10,205) - - -
BREAZRRLE Total transactions with owners 13,000 172,941 - - 10,295 - B (10,295) 185,941 B 185,941
REFTAETZAZT-RA 31 December 2009
k-%-2%-8-1 and 1 January 2010 155,114 135412 0,318 7,014 148,602 282,388 - 757,882 2718820 29299 2,748,119

S0}
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BZE-ZF-FF+-A=1+—HIHFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

REREH
A2
RS
B EE

Pt

filkaR BT ERER
(W3E17(a))
ffraR BT EHETLHR
(300
HERBEL  ERHR
(H&t300)
fifkERz8TEfR
TEERERRE

REEEEER
AVEER
SEUEEE

RERAZRE
FRRALELTRRG

RERREHEORD
EfiRi R A0E
AEEEEER
SRRAZRABE

S5 g o

%508 %1598

FiEREARGES
Attributable to owners of the Company
ies Rrke HARE  BREREE HERE EiRE  ATERE REEA BE  ERER ]
Buildings Non-
Share Share Capital ~ revaluation Statutory  Translation Fair value Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thr Thr Thr Thrn T T Thn
HKS' 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS' 000
At 31 December 2009
and 1 January 2010 15,114 1325472 0318 70 148,602 28,38 - 757,882 2718820 29299 2,748,119
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 133359 133359 5,68 139,041
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translation
of financial statements of
foreign operations - - - - - 95,859 - - 95,859 113 96,982
Surplus on revaluation of buildings
eld for own use (note 17(a)il) - - - 18,602 - - - - 18,602 461 19,063
Deferred tax on revaluation of
buildings held for own use
(note 30(0) - - - (3.979) - - - - (3.975) (80) (4,055)
Deferred tax arising on change
in tax rate (note 30(b)) - - - 1,460 - - - - 1,460 mn 1537
Transfer to retained profits in
respect of depreciation on
revaluation of buidings
held for own use - - - (2.962) - - - 2,962 - - -
Falr value loss on avalable-for-sale
equity securites - - - - - - (15,760) - (15,760) - (15,760)
Total comprehensive income - - - 13,125 - 95,859 (15,760) 136,30 209,545 1263 236,808
Transactions with owners
Issue of new shares by share
placement 12,000 462,000 - - - - - - 474,000 - 474,000
Shares issued under share option
scheme 80 800 - - - - - - 830 - 880
Transaction cost attributable to
issue of new shares - (18,872) - - - - - - (18872) - (18872)
Appropriations to statutory
TeServes - - - - 9,002 - - (9,002) - - -
Total transactions with owners 12,080 4398 - - 9,002 - - (9,002) 456,008 - 456,008
At 31 December 2010 167,194 1,769,400 0318 40,139 17,604 378241 (15,760) 885,201 3404373 36,562 3440935

ZHEERIBREES 80 -

The notes on pages 50 to 159 form part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE-Z2-—ZF+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Interest income

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Amortisation of prepaid lease
payments on land under
operating leases

Amortisation of intangible assets

Impairment loss on trade
and other receivables

Write back of impairment loss
on trade and other receivables

Net gains on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Reversal of write down of
inventories

Write down of inventories

Bad debt written off

Operating cash flows before
changes in working capital

(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade and
other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
and deposits
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables
Decrease in accruals and
other payables
(Decrease)/increase in amounts
due to directors

Cash (used in)/generated from
operations

Tax paid
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities

Bt &
Note

—E-ZF —EENF
2010 2009
FET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
177,719 144,342
8,409 17,968
(4,891) (10,043)
90,670 94,798
5,910 5,750
30,913 30,369
10,970 3,996
(4,996) (9,267)
(23) (309)
(23,371) =
16,059 22,691
258 53
307,627 300,348
(371,410) 51,472
91,971 (50,199)
(29,560) 1,397
4,098 (39,564)
(12,917) (43,460)
(439) 42
(10,630) 220,036
(50,152) (49,056)
(60,782) 170,980




Zs
L

GORE

~r7

il

xR

BE-Z2-SF+=-H=+1+—H1LFE For the year ended 31 December 2010
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iz
Note

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases

Payment for purchase of available-
for-sale equity securities

(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank
deposits and restricted bank balances

Interest received

Deferred consideration paid for
acquisition of subsidiaries

Net cash (used in)/generated
from investing activities

Financing activities
Net proceeds from placement
of new shares
Repayment of bank borrowings
Proceeds from new bank borrowings
Interest paid on bank borrowings
Proceeds from shares issued under
share option scheme

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of changes in exchange rate

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of the year 27

statements.

—g2-2F  —TING
2010 2009
i FiE
HK$'000 HK$' 000
(28,954) (14,227)
23 393
(11,034) =
(30,000) =
(70,573) 129,712
4,891 10,043
- (115,659)
(135,647) 10,262
455,128 185,941
(288,681) (292,111)
142,437 240,658
(8,409) (17,968)
880 =
301,355 116,520
104,926 297,762
1,065,124 765,252
58,878 2,110
1,228,928 1,065,124

The notes on pages 50 to 159 form part of these financial
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-Z2-—ZF+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

—mER
FEBIIEBRBRAR ([ARQF]) AHEE
EREMKLA—BERENERETAR
EROREBBERSHAERAR ([HR
Frl) £ e RAR Mt SRt R EBE
BN ANFRARER —FRIEE -

RARZEER AR REFEERALTRYY
Holdings Limited ([YY Holdings]) * 8% A &
REERLEBTMAL © YY Holdings ¥ &
REAHDNRATER 2 BRE -

ARTREHBAR (FHAARE))
FRAPRREERMERHLES (BER
RER) RHAER (BESBRHEERNS
) -

REBZEEEBRPEARKEFME ([H
Bl) #1T o AR A BRI AAE T ([T ])
Sl - BIAR AT 2 Thae § ¥ - i B 3 1B
KRYMBARIZNEEEEAARE AR
) - BEZRA  BRENRERAEEEE
e BAF AR S IA B B YY Holdings (LI g & #
BAT)REMS  UWBTIIRGA VR
REARBE-

GENERAL

China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate

information section to the annual report.

The immediate parent and the ultimate controlling party of
the Company is YY Holdings Limited (“YY Holdings”), which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. YY Holdings does not

produce financial statements available for public use.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) are engaged in investment holding and
the manufacture and sales of rare earth products (including
fluorescent products) and refractory products (including high

temperature ceramics products and magnesium grains).

The principal operations of the Group are conducted in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"),
which is the functional currency of the Company, while the
functional currency of the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC
is Renminbi (“RMB"). The directors consider that presenting
consolidated financial statements in HK$ is preferable when
controlling and monitoring the performance and financial
position of the Group and in reporting to YY Holdings whose

functional currency is HK$.
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BE-E-Z2F+=-A=+—HIHFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

2.

FTEEEE

a)
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)

b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“"HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange. A summary of the significant accounting

policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments and
interpretations which are or have become effective. It has
also issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note
3 provides information on the initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting periods

reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2010 comprise the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries and the Group's interest

in a jointly controlled entity.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except
those disclosed otherwise in the accounting policies

below.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
to HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making judgements about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision

affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial
statements and estimates with a significant risk of
material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note
4.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are

taken into account.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9]

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of

impairment.

Non-controlling interests (previously known as “minority
interests”) represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would
result in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-
controlling interests either at fair value or at their
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable

assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and the

equity shareholders of the Company.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

¢) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated

statement of financial position in accordance with notes

2(m), (n) or (r) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in

relative interests, but no adjustments are made to

goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in consolidated income statement. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 2(f)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial

recognition of an investment in jointly controlled entity

(see note 2(d)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any

impairment loss (see note 2(j)(ii)), unless the investments

are classified as held for sale.



B 5 ¥ = Bt 5E

BE=

2.

E—FF+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

EE%%E&%(%)
d HEZHE
%ﬁ%ﬂa EEBRBEARELAR

ﬁJEﬁiHmEE’\J/—\%@ﬁﬁFi&ﬁé BrE
CREBEREROL  AREHALR

Tiﬁi—fl‘kyﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂa ERZK

EERBEE KR E I -

REBIRLPIGEENLREGE S
ZRETUER WRESEARH
FER  RIESBHMBREERESH
(RERGEIRBHEERDRIEEEHE
BI5IER - SkimR BRI RIS TE
%EQ$@JAEAD”QE%¢%%
CBIRBEB G ERE3NR &
%EIE CHERRFEINER - NEEE
HEAREHEBZ2EE  BE - WA
REEDREEMBEHREPEAEE
ZHEUBEE &G

=it

AEBEREARZEHERB X5 M
EEZAERBEHERNEE ZHIKR
BRAERTPIHE  ERNRERER
THEEREENRBES  AIZAR
BREE Kam R T HER -

WASREHAFRZHERTBARH
REGE  KEEELEFRBIRER
Rz 2MER AR - MASEEB/R
BlamkR PR WTEEEAH
T EE B EZARIE R BDAR
Bz EREHED FERRAR
Mt EBEHRESEBREEN B RE
B2 DNFE -

'—|l}

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d)

Jointly controlled entity

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates
under a contractual arrangement between the Group
or Company and other parties, where the contractual
arrangement establishes that the Group or Company and
one or more of the other parties share joint control over

the economic activity of the entity.

The Group recognises its interest in a jointly controlled
entity using proportionate consolidation, except when
the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case
it is accounted for under HKFRS 5, Non-current Assets
held for Sale and Discounted Operations or when the
investment is designated as at fair value through profit
or loss upon initial recognition or is classified as held for
trading in which case it is accounted for under HKAS 39
Financial Instrument: Recognition and Measurement. The
Group's share of each of the assets, liabilities, income
and expenses of the jointly controlled entity are combined
with the Group’s similar line items, line by line, in the

consolidated financial statements.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly controlled entity are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case
they are recognised immediately in consolidated income

statement.

When the Group ceases to have joint control over a
jointly controlled entity, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in consolidated income
statement. Any interest retained in that former investee
at the date when joint control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on

initial recognition of a financial asset.
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2. FEEEE®E) 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
e) BE e) Goodwill

s Goodwill represents the excess of:

() EEBBREZATE  EHKE () the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
FRFERERZ GEREEE transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
FRIFTRHRHEBETRE2 A TE interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
ZHEeHE B Group's previously held equity interest in the

acquiree; over

(i RBREABHASERBREL 2 (i) the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
AHANEERBEZATFFEZ acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured
B o as at the acquisition date.

(N2 2 BARN) - Al 2 & FANE When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised

EReBEZBRARERZEBA immediately in consolidated income statement as a gain

Z Wz o on a bargain purchase.

PR RK A ER 2R EBEIRE - Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment

EBEHTELEZBEWORERS losses. Goodwill arising on business combination is

AXBREHZHANE 2 HRRA S allocated to each cash-generating unit or groups of cash-

Bk —HRRREEN WESEF generating units, that is expected to benefit from the

TESR BRI & (R BT RE2()() © synergies of the combination and is tested annually for

impairment (see note 2(j)(ii)).

RERNEEE -—RIMBREMF - A On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the
EHEEKREEECESRTELER year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill
SHZBERGTAEF - is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.
f) HttERFBHFRE f)  Other investments in equity securities
FEBRARB 2 =B HIRE (BRI The Group'’s and the Company’s policies for investments
BAR REREGEBIZEIN) BRI in equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries
T 8 and jointly controlled entities, are as follows:
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

f)

Other investments in equity securities (Continued)

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at
fair value, which is their transaction price unless fair
value can be more reliably estimated using valuation
techniques whose variables include only data from
observable markets. Cost includes attributable transaction
costs, except where indicated otherwise below. These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,

depending on their classification:

Investments in equity securities held for trading are
classified as current assets. Any attributable transaction
costs are recognised in consolidated income statement
as incurred. At the end of each reporting period, the fair
value is remeasured with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised in consolidated income statement. The net
gain or loss recognised in consolidated income statement
does not include any dividends or interest earned on

these investments.

Investments in equity securities which do not fall into any
of the above categories are classified as available-for-sale
equity securities. At the end of each reporting period,
the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or
loss being recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the fair value
reserve, except foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from changes in the amortised cost of monetary items.
Dividend income from these investments is recognised
in consolidated income statement and, where these
investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated using
the effective interest method is recognised in consolidated
income statement in accordance with the policy set out
in note 2(s)(ii). When these investments are derecognised
or impaired (see note 2(j)), the cumulative gain or loss is

reclassified from equity to consolidated income statement.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the
Group commits to purchase/sell the investments or they

expire.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings held for own use are stated in the statement of
financial position at their revalued amount, being their
fair values at the date of revaluation less any subsequent

accumulated depreciation.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to
ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does not
differ materially from that which would be determined

using fair values at the end of the reporting period.

Except for buildings held for own use, other property,
plant and equipment are stated in the statement of
financial position at cost less accumulated depreciation

and accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(j)(ii)).

Changes arising on the revaluation of buildings held
for own use are generally dealt with in the building

revaluation reserve. The only exceptions are as follows:

- when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to the income statement to the extent
that it exceeds the amount held in the revaluation
reserve in respect of that same asset immediately

prior to the revaluation; and

- when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will be
credited to the income statement to the extent that
a deficit on revaluation in respect of that same asset

had previously been charged to income statement.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour,
the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site
on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion
of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note

2(u)).
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2. FEEEE®E) 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9 WE -BERREGE) g) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
EHERFELHREFTED  KNEE When a lease includes both land and building elements,
EAMER AR ZBRBMHEAR the Group assesses the classification of each element as
HHEHETEREAEEUBE RS a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
BEHEDARMEHERKLEHE - assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and

rewards incidental to ownership of each element have

been transferred to the Group.

HemHAENSER  ARRKE To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
HEMNHELHESELERE VK made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
AERRIBIENER]  WIREZE for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
EHERREH - payments” in the consolidated statement of financial

position and is amortised over the lease term on a

straight-line basis.

EERABREREBENEERS - Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
AT BEEEREENINERES attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may
ME BERZBHNEERRERE also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on
R AT A AT AR o qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases
of property, plant and equipment.
HEKAEEAEE L ESHEZIEA Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
BEBORREHEN=RZIEB K amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
KRR St ER  FAEEREAESR only when it is probable that future economic benefits
MRAABLEE (WMER) - WERE associated with the item will flow to Group and the
fp 2 BREEHUR R © PTA H it & cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
REREBRNE SNV BERBARK amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
ma Ak o repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
WMEEMEAERE G T KREEE An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
A RIS E E e R E B RO = to its recoverable amount of the asset’s carrying amount
Hael &5 e is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net proceeds on disposal
and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in the income statement on the date of retirement or
disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred
from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not

reclassified to income statement.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment, less
their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-

line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Buildings held for own use 20 years
- Machinery and equipment 10 years
- Office equipment and fixtures 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful
life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed

annually.

Construction-in-progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction
of buildings, the costs of machinery and equipment
and interest charges arising from borrowings used to
finance the acquisition of these assets during the period
of construction or installation and testing. No provision
for depreciation is made on construction-in-progress
until such time as the relevant assets are completed and
are available for their intended use. When the assets
concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred
to other property, plant and equipment and depreciated

in accordance with the policy as stated above.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs, where applicable (see note 2(u)). Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see note 2(j)(ii)).
Other development expenditure is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated in the statement of financial position at cost
less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated
useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 2(j)
(i)). Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which
it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives which are
determined by the directors to be finite. The following
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Exclusive right to purchase rare 16 years
earth minerals

- Technical know-how for preliminary 10 years
separation of rare earth minerals

—  Technical know-how for rare earth 10 years

metal products

Both the period and method of amortisation and any
conclusion that the useful life of an intangible asset is

indefinite are reviewed annually.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

i)

Lease assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series

of transactions,

is or contains a lease if the Group

determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use

a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time

in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such

a determination is made based on an evaluation of

the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of

whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

i)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
being held under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating

leases.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to the income statement in equal
instalments over the accounting periods covered by
the lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits to
be derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives
received are recognised in the income statement as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to the income
statement in the accounting period in which they

are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the

period of the lease term.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

i) Impairment of assets

i)

Impairment of receivables

Current and non-current receivables that are carried
at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to determine whether
there is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about one

or more of the following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or

delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation; and

-  significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that

have an adverse effect on the debtor.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of receivables (Continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is

determined and recognised as follows:

For trade and other financial assets carried
at amortised cost, the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of the estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition of these
assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at amortised cost
share similar risk characteristics, such as similar
past due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk

characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised,
the impairment loss is reversed through the
consolidated income statement. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that
which would have been determined had no

impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade debtors and bills receivable included
within trade and other receivables, whose
recovery is considered doubtful but not
remote. In this case, the impairment losses
for doubtful debts are recorded using an
allowance account. When the Group is
satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade debtors and bills receivable directly and
any amounts held in the allowance account
relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly are

recognised in the income statement.

i) EMEEZEE ii)
AEBeRSEARBREE
EHABRINRESER - AR
ETIEE (BRI RELR
BEREREERZAESED

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may

be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an

BEASELRD impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:
- EE - goodwill;

- BDE -BELERERER
BEI R ZBTIRIN) -
- REANTESIHESD:

- EBREE R
- RMEBERRZKRE -

- property, plant and equipment (other than

buildings carried at revalued amounts);

- prepaid lease payments on land under

operating leases;
- intangible assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

if)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for
use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e., a cash-generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in the income
statement whenever the carrying amount of
an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
a cash-generating unit are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group
of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair values less
costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

ii)

fii)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to the
consolidated income statement in the year in

which the reversals are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(see notes 2(j)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of goodwill are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of the

financial year to which the interim period relates.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k)

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the

reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see
note 2(j)(i)), except where the receivables are interest-
free loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at
cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see
note 2(j)(i)).
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

m)

n)

o)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in the income statement over the period
of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees

payable, using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and thereafter stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case

they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’'s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated

statement of cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present

values.

Share options granted to employee after 7

November 2002 and vested before 1 January 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not
recorded in the consolidated financial statements
until such time as the options are exercised, and
no charge is recognised in the consolidated income
statement in respect of the value of options
granted. Upon the exercise of the share options, the
resulting shares issued are recorded as additional
share capital at the nominal value of the shares,
and the excess of the exercise price per share over
the nominal value of the shares is recorded as share
premium. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior
to their exercise date are deleted from the register

of outstanding options.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of

withdrawal.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

q)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in the income statement except to the
extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case in relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary differences or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can
be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable

that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not

discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits

will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the

related dividends is recognised.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

r)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the

following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the

liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:

-  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax

liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle

simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Company or the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r)

s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue

is recognised in income statement as follows:

i) Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the Group has
transferred to the customer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods. Revenue
excludes value added and business taxes, and is
after deduction of any goods returns and trade
discounts.

i) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

iii)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in consolidated income statement
in equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased
asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised in
consolidated income statement as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

t)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transaction during the year are
translated into HK$ at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
HK$ at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates

ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
HK$ at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items, including goodwill
arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired
on or after 1 January 2005, are translated into HK$ at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the translation reserve. Goodwill
arising on consolidation of a foreign operation acquired
before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign
exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition of

the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences recognised in equity
which relate to that foreign operation is included in the

calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

u)

V)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in

the period which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are

interrupted or complete.

Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is

considered to be related to the Group if:

i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, to control the
Group or exercise significant influence over the
Group in making financial and operating policy

decisions, or has joint control over the Group;

i) the Group and the party are subject to common

control;

iii)  the party is an associate of the Group or a joint

venture in which the Group is a venturer;

iv) the party is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a
close family member of such an individual, or is an
entity under the control, joint control or significant

influence of such individuals;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

V)

Related parties (Continued)

v)  the party is a close family member of a party
referred to in note 2(v)(i) or is an entity under the
control, joint control or significant influence of such

individuals; or

vi)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is
for the benefit of employees of the Group or of any

entity that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group's chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business

and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregate for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share

a majority of these criteria.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
In the current year, the Group has where applicable applied
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the following amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs")

issued by the HKICPA which are or have become effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008)

HKAS 32 (Amendments)

HKAS 39 (Amendments)

HKFRS 1 (Amendments)

HKFRS 1 (Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008)

HKFRS 5 (Amendment)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 17

HK (Int) 5

Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part
of Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2008

Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2009

Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

Classification of Rights Issues

Eligible Hedged Items

First-time Adoption of HKFRSs

Additional Exemption for
First-time adoption

Group Cash-settled Share-based
Payment Transactions

Business Combination

Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations
Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a

Repayment on Demand Clause
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Continued)

The amendment to HKAS 39 and the issuance of HK (Int)
5 have had no material impact on the Group's financial
statements as the amendment and the Interpretation’s
conclusions were consistent with policies already adopted by
the Group. The other developments resulted in changes in
accounting policy but none of these changes in policy have a
material impact on the current or comparative periods, for the

following reasons:

—  The impact of the majority of the revisions to HKFRS 3,
HKAS 27, HKAS 32, HKFRS 1, HKFRS 2, HKFRS 5 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 have not yet had a material effect on the
Group's financial statements as these changes will first be
effective as and when the Group enters into a relevant
transaction (for example, a business combination, a
disposal of a subsidiary or a non-cash distribution) and
there is no requirement to restate the amounts recorded

in respect of previous such transactions.

—  The impact of the amendments to HKFRS 3 (in respect of

recognition of acquiree’s deferred tax assets) and HKAS
27 (in respect of allocation of losses to non-controlling
interests (previously known as minority interests) in excess
of their equity interest) have had no material impact as
there is no requirement to restate amounts recorded in
previous periods and no such deferred tax assets or losses

arose in the current period.

-  The amendment introduced by the Improvements to

HKFRSs (2009) omnibus standard in respect of HKAS 17,
Leases, resulted in a change of classification of certain
of the Group’s leasehold land interests located in the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, but this had no
material impact on the amounts recognised in respect of
these leases as the lease premiums in respect of all such
leases are fully paid and are being amortised over the

remaining length of the lease term.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Further details of these changes in accounting policy are as

follows:

- As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 3 (revised 2008),
any business combination acquired on or after 1 January
2010 will be recognised in accordance with the new
requirements and detailed guidance contained in HKFRS 3
(revised 2008). Its application has affected the accounting
for business combinations in the current year.

- HKFRS 3 (revised 2008) allows a choice on
a transaction-by-transaction basis for the
measurement of non-controlling interests at the
date of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ share of recognised identifiable
net assets of the acquiree. Consequently, the
goodwill recognised in respect of the acquisition
reflects the impact of the difference between the
fair value of the non-controlling interests and their
share of the recognised amount of the identifiable
net assets of the acquiree.

- HKFRS 3 (revised 2008) changes the recognition
and subsequent accounting requirements for
contingent consideration. Previously, contingent
consideration was recognised at the acquisition date
only if payment of the contingent consideration
was probable and it could be measured reliably;
any subsequent adjustments to the contingent
consideration were always made against the cost
of the acquisition. Under the revised standard,
contingent consideration is measured at fair value
at the acquisition date. Subsequent adjustments,
if any, to the consideration are recognised against
the cost of the acquisition only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within the
measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from
the acquisition date) about the fair value at the date
of acquisition. All other subsequent adjustments to
contingent consideration classified as an asset or a
liability are recognised in income statement.
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- HKFRS 3 (revised 2008) requires the recognition
of a settlement gain or loss when the business
combination in effect settles a pre-existing

relationship between the Group and the acquiree.

- HKFRS 3 (revised 2008) requires acquisition-
related costs to be accounted for separately from
the business combination, with those costs being
recognised as an expense in income statement as
incurred. Previously, they were accounted for as part

of the cost of the acquisition.

HKFRS 3 (revised 2008) requires that where the acquiree
has accumulated tax losses or other temporary deductible
differences and these fail to meet the recognition criteria
for deferred tax assets at the date of acquisition, any
subsequent recognition of these assets will be recognised
in income statement, rather than as an adjustment to

goodwill as was previously the policy.

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS
3 (revised 2008), these new accounting policies will be
applied prospectively to any business combinations in the
current or future periods. The new policy in respect of
recognition in the movement of deferred tax assets will
also be applied prospectively to accumulated tax losses
and other temporary deductible differences acquired
in previous business combinations. No adjustments
have been made to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that arose from business combinations whose
acquisition dates preceded the application of this revised

standard.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(Continued)
- As a result of the adoption of HKAS 27 (amended 2008),

the following changes in policies will be applied as from 1

January 2010:

- If the Group acquires an additional interest in
a non-wholly owned subsidiary, the transaction
will be accounted for as a transaction with equity
shareholders (the non-controlling interests) in their
capacity as owners and therefore no goodwill will
be recognised as a result of such transactions.
Similarly, if the Group disposes of part of its
interest in a subsidiary but still retains control,
this transaction will also be accounted for as a
transaction with equity shareholders (the non-
controlling interests) in their capacity as owners and
therefore no profit or loss will be recognised as a
result of such transactions. Previously the Group
treated such transactions as step-up transactions

and partial disposals, respectively.

- If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
transaction will be accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with any
remaining interest retained by the Group being
recognised at fair value as if reacquired. In addition,
as a result of the adoption of the amendment to
HKFRS 5, if at the date of the end of reporting
period the Group has the intention to dispose of
a controlling interest in a subsidiary, the entire
interest in that subsidiary will be classified as held
for sale (assuming that the held for sale criteria in
HKFRS 5 are met) irrespective of the extent to which
the Group will retain an interest. Previously such

transactions were treated as partial disposals.
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Continued)

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKAS
27, these new accounting policies will be applied
prospectively to transactions in current or future periods

and therefore previous periods have not been restated.

- In order to be consistent with the above
amendments to HKFRS 3 and HKAS 27, and as a
result of amendments to HKAS 31, Interests in Joint
Ventures, the following policies will be applied as

from 1 January 2010:

- If the Group holds interests in the acquiree
immediately prior to obtaining significant
influence or joint control, these interests will
be treated as if disposed of and reacquired at
fair value on the date of obtaining significant
influence or joint control. Previously, the
step-up approach would have been applied,
whereby goodwill was computed as if

accumulated at each stage of the acquisition.

- If the Group loses significant influence or joint
control, the transaction will be accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with any remaining interest being
recognised at fair value as if reacquired.
Previously such transactions were treated as

partial disposals.

Consistent with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 3 and
HKAS 27, these new accounting policies will be applied
prospectively to transactions in current or future periods

and therefore previous periods have not been restated.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Other changes in accounting policies which are relevant to the
Group's consolidated financial statements are as follows:

- As a result of the amendments to HKAS 27, as from 1
January 2010 any losses incurred by a non-wholly owned
subsidiary will be allocated between the controlling and
non-controlling interests in proportion to their interests
in that entity, even if this results in a deficit balance
within consolidated equity being attributed to the non-
controlling interests. Previously, if the allocation of losses
to the non-controlling interests would have resulted in a
deficit balance, the losses were only allocated to the non-
controlling interests if the non-controlling interests were
under a binding obligation to make good the losses. In
accordance with the transitional provisions in HKAS 27,
this new accounting policy is being applied prospectively
and therefore previous periods have not been restated.

- As a result of the amendment to HKAS 17, Leases, arising

from the “Improvements to HKFRSs (2009)” omnibus
standard, the Group has re-evaluated the classification
of its interests in leasehold land as to whether, in the
Group's judgement, the lease transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the land such
that the Group is in a position economically similar to
that of a purchaser. The Group has concluded that the
classification of such leases as operating leases continues
to be appropriate, with the exception of those interests
which are registered and transferable ownership interests
in land located in the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and subject to the Government's land policy of
renewal without payment of additional land premium.
These leasehold interests will no longer be classified by
the Group as operating leases as the Group considers
that it is in a position economically similar to that of
a purchaser. This change in accounting policy has no
material impact on the current or previous periods as the
lease premiums in respect of all such leases are fully paid
and are being amortised over the remaining length of the
lease term.
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3. BRMHAIREEITEREMBHREER
([EEMBREE]) (&)

ERMHEBEVERELNE RS HEIE
FEtBRZ AR BERR . RERZT
TAYEEREATE  RULHRERESF

RS

AEBYEREERATIRE-_E—FF—
A—HRRzFERRSBAERRERZ
R RGBT ER - BRI HRE -

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Continued)

The application of the new HKFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and financial position for the current or
prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented.

Accordingly, no prior year adjustment is required.

The Group has not early applied any of the following new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretations which have

been issued but are not yet effect for annual periods beginning

BEMBREEN (BTE)

eERp AN ACHEY

“E-TEERRMKRS
BRI - EBRNH
BEEHEN
(ZRRNFRET)
BEGHEAZIER
BB e EAE28%
B3N

BREHA: KEREEE

BRGHENSME (BE]) BENRE

BREARAENE (BTN HRHOSE

BRMBREENRR(BTR) ERRAZABBENH
BELHEIRYBRE
ERMERHAS

BRHREENER (BITX)

KE-SRAEERS

BRI HRERAER ERIA

FE(ARNBEELEEEE) RNREALARRE
-RBE1F (BTE)

EE(ERNBEEEEEES) NRAIAEHERARE

-REF19%

on 1 January 2010.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)
HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 32 (Amendments)
HKFRS 1 (Amendments)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9
HK(IFRIC) - Int 14
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) - Int 19

Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2010 except for the
amendments to HKFRS 3
(as revised in 2008),

HKAS 1 and HKAS 28!

Deferred Tax: Recovery
of Underlying Assets?

Related Party Disclosures?

Classification of Rights Issues*

Limited Exemption from
Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time
Adopters®

Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets®

Financial Instruments’

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirements?

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments®
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ERMFITREETERMBREER
([EEMBHREEL]) (@)

" ORZE——F A BHHEEMRAKZ
FEHEEY  ER=_ZE—ZTFLA—
Bk EAMABzFEOMERZES
B REERIE3N  BEGTESE
2155 - BAGTERFE2RREARS
SHERIE315RB O

2 R-E-—-—HE—PB B HERE
FREHBMER

3 RZE——F—-PF—AREERAKBZ
FREHBMER

¢ O R-E-TFE-_A-ARHEFBZ
FREHBMER

5 ORZE-—TFLA-AKHBERHAZ
FREHBMER

s RITE——F+LA-AREERAKBZ
FREHBMER

7 ORIE-ZF—-A—HAHRHEERKZ
FREHBMER

AEBIEFHEZ ST RGBT ER - B7]
HRBRARERERNRHcZE - =B
Bl KBRS RBETERL - BRI X
RERERBSTAAEHR A RENRERE
R BRAEREATE -

HARE ARG TREZEER

i

a) fhEFTRREMZEEZRR
RERME2Mt 2 AEEGFTHER 2
BT EEECFRETEIERR
ZEBRRIRARER RHMEEE
A T REECEMERRE &%
FRRAUEFEEHEERABZR
AERTEABRFEEFEHERAR L
EXER  BRAFEAWET -

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2011 except for the amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and HKAS 31, which is effective for

annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2010

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2011

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
February 2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2011

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these new and revised standards, amendments
or interpretation is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of

operations and financial position.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 2, management has made
certain key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimated uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, as

discussed below.
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4. BREFHERGHTREZEIER 4

R (&)

a) M TREMZEERR(E)

) EBEREZEE
RETHERGHER FTEYH
BERESREHECRRBEEMLL
EREEEL G - FEREE
EEZAREGERRRES
BRUEEZARREREREE
PR ELAGTEIRE - WA RER
BeReLNBY  AlgceE
EBRREEBE - R —ZF
+ZA=+-—8 BEZEAE
#4) /488,971,000 7t (ZZE T A
% : 85,980,000 7T) ° BEAR K
Bl BT E 2 S ERM 1638 -

i) WX BERREZAREFE
RFfF1E1E
EEERBEME2ME 5T
BREEAEBNE  BE KRR
Wzl ERFHRRRE
16 - ARER BRI E M (1]
ERFHERBREERLA G
AR - SMHEIHRE R E AL
2 T BT B R SR 3R SR B
W2 EBE -

i) HEERREREZIGE

RETEERTHERIATER
MEZEHRENBEER K
SEAENERTERERY
BEEEBEZEHIBERTESR
EEEZEHRETEEFAEMED
H B

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

i)

ii)

fii)

Estimation of impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31 December 2010, the carrying amount of
goodwill is approximately HK$88,971,000 (2009:
HK$85,980,000). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 16.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives
and residual values for the Group's property, plant
and equipment in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in note 2(g). The Group will revise the
depreciation charge where useful lives and residual
values are different from previous estimates, or will
write off or write down technically obsolete or non-

strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Estimation of impairment of machinery and
equipment

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the
event previously causing the impairment no longer
exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in
assessing whether an event has occurred that may
affect the asset value or such event affecting the

asset value has not been in existence.
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4. BREFHERGHTREZEIER 4

R (8)

a) fhEFFEEMZEEZRIE(E)
iif) BEERREREIGE (B)

ZEEDERET S RIEER
Z2BR - WARRERERE
BEAZR - NITEHER K&
BezrRAlREREENE
BEBIHEEES  T2HRE
RS AT 2k - R
T EESRERERREEX
MELR - R=_T—TF+=
A=1+—H HERZHBZER
{E#49326,743,0008 L (Z 2T N
F : 317,687,000/ 7T) °

V) FEEREFRAFEZIGE

Rt 7(@)DFTIR - FEE B g
FHIRZE-—ZEF+A=1+—
BFEBIEEAARMERMKR
ARAEBATUER - ZEHE
HERETHRIEEREZZ
BF - WA RERAERBER
ER o NELHER  AEEE
ZERBEHABETHNEEBZNE
W& ¥ & B3R EA R 4
ERTFEZER R EEK
e PR E R IR IR E R mE L
WoRZE—ZEF+_A=1+—
B HEBRZEFZEEEDN
246,549,000/ 7T (ZETNF -
237,866,000/ 7T) °

A
EELR

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

fii)

iv)

Estimation of impairment of machinery and
equipment (Continued)

Such assessment was based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainty and might differ
materially from the actual results. In exercising
judgement, the Group considers information
such as the amounts of the replacement cost of
the machinery and equipment and deductions
to account for the age, condition, economic or
functional obsolescence and environmental factors
existing at the end of each reporting period.
As at 31 December 2010, the carrying amount
of machinery and equipment is approximately
HK$326,743,000 (2009: HK$317,687,000).

Estimation of fair value of buildings held for own
use

As described in note 17(a)(ii), the buildings held for
own use were revalued at 31 December 2010 using
the cost replacement approach by independent
professional qualified valuers. Such valuations were
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainties and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the judgement, the Group
considers information such as the amounts of the
replacement cost of the buildings and deductions
to account for the age, condition, economic or
functional obsolescence and environmental factors
existing at the end of each reporting period.
As at 31 December 2010, the carrying amount
of buildings held for own use is approximately
HK$246,549,000 (2009: HK$237,866,000).
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4. BREFHERGHTREZEIER 4

R (48)

a) M TREMZEERR(E)

v) BEEEREZIGE
REBMREMF20)(FEH2E
HHE BEHENEERST
B EETEE - MR @ B
Z A M [el & B T IR IR A B E A
EMETE ZSFAERTEERE
BEHEB 2 RREEELEZ
st B AR EURE
tERERAEBENEZRR - &
ERAB NRZZE—TFR=-FT
NFE+ZA=+—H EFEE
YERE R_T—ZTF+=A
=t+t—H BFEEZEEEYD
329,921,000 L (Z T NF :
349,223,000 7T) °

vij BEEEZHH
BREEDREMEZ20AEE
AFBREEGFAERFHNU
EREETIEE - IERFY
ZEBESREREEL MG -
AEBEHBEVEEZA RS
B mnERRRE G TR
AIEREZRTRTERAFREZE
i - B AT AS PR 2R IR 4 5

#® o

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

v)

Vi)

Estimation of impairment of intangible assets

The Group performs annual assessments on whether
there has been impairment of intangible assets
in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in note 2(j)(ii). The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units are determined based on value in
use calculations. These calculations require the use
of estimates and assumptions made by management
on the future operation of the business, pre-tax
discount rates, and other assumptions underlying
the value in use calculations. The directors are of
opinion that intangible assets are not impaired
as at 31 December 2010 and 2009. As at 31
December 2010, the carrying amount of intangible
assets is approximately HK$329,921,000 (2009:
HK$349,223,000).

Amortisation of intangible assets

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 2(h).
The determination of the useful lives involves
management’s estimation. The Group re-assesses
the useful life of the intangible assets and, if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the amortisation in the
year and the estimate will be changed in the future

period.
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4. BREHHERMGATREZEZER

R (&)

a) fhEFFEEMZEZRIER(E)

vii)

Viii)
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

vii)

viii)

Estimation of impairment of receivables

The policy for recognising impairment on receivables
of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectibility, ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgement. A considerable amount
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the
current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer. If the financial conditions
of customers of the Group were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional impairment may be required.
As at 31 December 2010, the carrying amount
of trade and other receivables is approximately
HK$368,415,000 (2009: HK$467,395,000). Details
of the impairment of receivables are disclosed in
note 24(c).

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined
on the basis of the estimated selling price less
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
The directors estimate the net realisable value
for inventories based primarily on the latest
invoice prices and current market conditions. As
at 31 December 2010, the directors performed a
review on a product-by-product basis and made
a write down of its inventories of approximately
HK$16,059,000 (2009: HK$22,691,000) and
a reversal of write-down of inventories of
approximately HK$23,371,000 (2009: HKS$Nil).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of some assets and
liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the effects of
uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at
the end of the reporting period. These estimates involve
assumptions about such items as cash flows and discount
rates used. The Group’s estimates and assumptions
are based on historical experience and expectations of
future events and are reviewed periodically. In addition
to assumptions and estimations of future events,
judgements are also made during the process of applying

the Group's accounting policies.

i) Income taxes and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income tax in Hong Kong
and various taxes in PRC. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for taxation.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in

which such determination is made.
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4. BREFHERGHTREZEIER 4
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b) EEAASEESHBRNMEZEX
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) BEHREERHE ()
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RABERAEENEHERN R
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the

Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

i)

if)

Income taxes and deferred taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and certain tax losses are recognised as
management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such differences will impact
the recognition of deferred tax assets and tax in
the periods in which such estimate is changed. In
this regard, the Group has recognised deferred tax
assets and liabilities in the amount of approximately
HK$24,158,000 (2009: HK$21,639,000) and
HK$94,960,000 (2009: HK$97,878,000) as at 31
December 2010 respectively.

Withholding taxes arising from the distributions of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue
for withholding taxes arising from the distributions
of dividends from certain subsidiaries according to
the relevant tax jurisdictions is subject to judgement
on the timing of the payment of the dividend.
The Group considered that if the profits will not
be distributed in the foreseeable future, then no

withholding taxes should be provided.
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5. EXH# 5. TURNOVER
EEREHRETEPZERHEEE(TE Turnover represents the sales value of goods supplied to
FRHETRREER)  UTHRE@MEERE customers which excludes value-added and business taxes, and
SHH - REERNEERRRER I WG 2% is after deduction of any goods returns and trade discounts.
FTEHERESEMAT : The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised

in turnover during the year is as follows:

—E-EF —ETNEF
2010 2009
FTER FET
HK$'000 HK$’ 000
WEEMR Sales of rare earth products
(BERAER)HEHE (including fluorescent products) 896,451 637,725
i A ZE R Sales of refractory products
(BERAMEEDRED) (including high temperature ceramics
HE products and magnesium grains) 423,053 573,958
1,319,504 1,211,683
6. Hfbz 6. OTHER REVENUE
—E-ZF —EENF
2010 2009
FTER FHET
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
BITERF B YA (M) Interest income from bank deposits (note) 4,891 10,043
JFE US2 BR 3R % Lt LT R Write back of impairment loss on trade
B (A & 18 o) and other receivables 4,996 9,267
9,887 19,310
M Note:
RITFRFEWALLFFEZATFEIABREZE Interest income from bank deposits represents the total interest income
REEMS WAL - on financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss.
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7. BRBAEF
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Finance costs
Interest expenses on bank borrowings wholly
repayable within five years

Other borrowing costs

Total interest expense on financial liabilities

not at fair value through profit or loss

Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments in note 9)

Salaries and wages

Retirement benefits scheme contributions
(note 11)

Other items

Auditor’s remuneration

Cost of inventories (note 23(b))

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
on land under operating leases

Amortisation of intangible assets

Bad debt written off

Impairment loss on trade and other
receivables

Net gains on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Net exchange loss

Operating lease charges on rented premises

Research and development expenditure

—E-FF ZZETNF
2010 2009
FHET FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
8,409 17,968
29 =
8,438 17,968
42,025 36,020
2,493 2,426
44,518 38,446
3,420 3,360

1,031,430 980,246
90,670 94,798
5,910 5,750
30,913 30,369

258 53
10,970 3,996
(23) (309)
2,630 206
1,457 1,451
1,542 399
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8. HMEWBmRAZFEH 8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT
a) HAKREZRRNZFBERIE: a) Income tax in the consolidated income statement

represents:

—E-2F ZZETNF
2010 2009
TR FAT
HK$'000 HK$' 000
REABIE- PRI E Current tax - PRC Enterprise Income Tax
FEs ((oEmMEH (“EIT")
FE M (FIFE30(a)) Provision for the year (note 30(a)) 49,000 69,454
ELEHRIE Deferred taxation
URMERZES Origination and reversal of temporary
K& Bl (FTEE30(b)) differences (note 30(b)) (10,322) (9,795)
FTE# X Income tax charge 38,678 59,659
W 5E Note:

ARARBERASHEERERSHEEMAK
MRERCEREEAR - Bt R
NREFEREH -

RZBENFRNAZTRA BELEEE
BT NFRAKHIER - BEEFEH
KB165%  B_ZTNE,/ —ZETAFHR
HEERAN -BE-_ZT-TER_TTH
F+-_A=1+—HILMEEAN ARAEER
A 8 FE SR Bm AT RE - WER B AR GRET
R -

RIBEFESEMBREN ([REMBRED
RERGES B -TTN\EF—A—Bi# K&
SEPEMBAR2HER25% -

AEETENERARERAREESBHH
BERABRARFBEANKEERERARE
BE T\ FEAMFERRTRCEM
B3 - BER=FBS0%HIER R

AEEFHEKB AR EERFRG L ER
ARRZBEHE+ZA=+=BHREKAIN
AREZ [BHEmtE] WA ZEERAM
BREI5% °

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company
Law of the Cayman Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from
payment of the Cayman Islands income tax.

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the
Revenue Bill 2008 and corporate profits tax rate became 16.5%,
which was effective from the year of assessment 2008/09. No
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group had no net assessable profits for the two years ended 31
December 2010 and 2009.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the "EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
Group's PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 towards.

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group, Yixing Wellfire Nonmetal
Materials Co., Ltd. and Hai Cheng Xinwei Leeshing Magnesium
Resources Co., Ltd. are entitled to the exemptions from PRC EIT
for two years starting from 2008, followed by a 50% tax relief
for the next three years.

The PRC subsidiary of the Group, Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare
Earth Company Limited became a foreign invested “encouraged
hi-tech enterprise” with effective from 22 December 2009 and
was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15%.
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BE-Z2-—ZF+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

8. mMEKBBRAZMEBHR (B 8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT (Continued)
b) FERIEEGH RN HRERB b) Reconciliation between income tax charge and
RAEZHENAT accounting profit at applicable tax rates is as follows:
—E-25 ZETNF
2010 2009
TR FET
HK$’'000 HK$' 000
B % Al s A Profit before taxation 177,719 144,342
B 7 Al 4 ) Notional tax on profit before taxation,
REBEEERERADE calculated at the rates applicable to the
SECEERE jurisdictions concerned 38,653 40,929
TAENTE 2 BB FE Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 5,432 676
BEARBWAZHBZE Tax effect of non-taxable income (87) (380)
REARBRZHIEEE Tax effect of unused tax losses not
BB E recognised - 10,643
PRABRUEEERZ Tax effect of utilisation of tax loss not
MK E recognised (6,485) =
N ARBRIEHR 2 Tax effect of tax loss not allowed for tax
MEEBERZREZE deduction 1,694 9,106
REEAREREIER R  Tax effect of tax exemption granted to
2B E a PRC subsidiary (529) (1,315)
FIECY - Income tax charge 38,678 59,659
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9.

EEMe
RIBEBERRIGHFEI6ERENES

a)

BT

WITE=S
—FE MER

BUFRTES
-8

HE_Z—ZFK

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION
a) Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows:

Executive directors

— salaries and allowance

Independent non-executive directors

- fees

nNE+=A

=t—BALEFE EINEECEEMH

TRBOT

HTES
BRiE
B
s ()
B4

BYFHTES
gRN

HREE
tE

—g-85 —TIAA
2010 2009

F 7 FH
HK$'000 HK$' 000
2,484 2,606

163 162

2,647 2,768

b) Details of directors’ remuneration by individual director
for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 are as

follows:

BEZ-_Z-ZF5+-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December 2010

Executive directors

Jiang Quanlong
Qian Yuanying

Xu Panfeng (note)

Jiang Cainan

Independent non-executive

directors
Liu Yujiu
Huang Chunhua
Jin Zhong

Mz : BERZE—SFRAZTN\HEE-

EXgGe 28
EsHd REUNEF R
Basic salaries,
Directors’ allowance and Total
fees benefits-in-kind emoluments
THER FTHERT TER
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
- 1,320 1,320
= 1,014 1,014
- 11 11
- 139 139
50 - 50
72 - 72
41 - 41
163 2,484 2,647

Note: Resigned on 28 May 2010.
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BE-Z2-—ZF+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

9. EEME (®)
by (&)

HITER
BREE
BEILR
TR

K7
BYFHTES
RN

REE

28

BE-T-ZFR-FTNFT-A=+—
BIEMFEER  BEEEHREMMSE - &
E-T-THER-FFAFT-A=T—AR
EREER - BEATAEEIREMN D
AR SR B S0 A A S B 2 SR o Rk B A

o
g8 o

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

b) (Continued)

Executive directors
Jiang Quanlong
Qian Yuanying

Xu Panfeng

Jiang Cainan

Independent non-executive
directors

Liu Yujiu

Huang Chunhua

Jin Zhong

BE_ZTNFT_-_RA=1—-HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2009

ERHS 2R

Lok K& YR [t
Basic salaries,

Directors’ allowance and Total

fees benefits-in-kind emoluments

TR FTHT THT

HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000

= 1,320 1,320

- 1,014 1,014

- 136 136

- 136 136

49 - 49

72 - 72

41 = 41

162 2,606 2,768

During the two years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009, no
directors waived any emoluments. No inducement payments
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office was paid or payable to any director for the two years
ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.
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10. BEFHAL 10.
BE-_ZT-ZTF+-_A=+—RALEFE &K
ERRLRSHFALT Hh=£(=ZF
NE:ZR)BAARES MR
R - HBME (CTTAE : AR &S
FALZHES@BENT :

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2010, out of the five
highest paid individuals in the Group, three (2009: three) are
directors of the Company whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 9. The aggregate emoluments in respect of the remaining

two (2009: two) highest paid individuals are as follows:

—E-EF —TTAEF

2010 2009

FTET FHET

HK$’' 000 HK$'000

EXFHE - R LKEVEF Basic salaries, allowance and benefits-in-kind 1,127 1,079
RIRIEF FT &R Retirement benefits scheme contribution 56 54
1,183 1,133

BE_Z-ZHE+_A=+—HIEFE K
(ZEBNF  MB)RSHFALZM

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the emoluments of the
remaining two (2009: two) highest paid individuals are within

the following band:

—e-85 C—TTAS
2010 2009
Z—1,000,000% 7T Nil - HK$1,000,000 2 2

RMEFER  AEELERALRDHA
T (BREZNREE) XNEAMES A=
BYEL DA S AT S (8] iy 1) S A o e Bk

f& -

No emoluments were paid to the five highest individuals
including directors and employees as inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office in

both years.
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E—-TF+=-HA=1+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

1. BERKEF

12.

R B AR B R A B R E - AR RIBY
B BAREAREZEERNBEERKTE
TR EREREEELRFTEMI7% —20%
(ZETAE  17%—20%) ° BB RIKER
EEZUABERRFTEFELIN - AQF]
R BB ARBREFHZRN  BAINE
BRiRkE  MBAEERENR W&mﬂ
HE-Z—ZF+-A=+—HILFE"
%ﬁ%u%%mﬁzu7m&%x677jh
% :2,372,000/87T) © Zt EIHRENEFFHE o

Di#

FEEETERBELENRRA _TTTSF

En
+-R-BEB2ERESHE ([RESH
8)) - ZEEATHEEREASHE - 2L

i

A AREEEAH S5% MK B -
HEZT-THE+-_A=T—HLEFE &K
& B 5815 € 58I 3 4)56,0008 T (ZF
TNE : 54,000/87T)  RIESHEEEAK
SENEEIHARE  UHBUEEESK
BEE ZABIHAIRNEE -

N
H

A

Al

ARAHERE ARMGRT

ARRHEAEBGEE A BEBEY
19,016,000/ 7t (ZZ Z L4 : 25,920,000
BIL) + ZFEENAR R RER AL o

11.

12.

EMPLOYMENT RETIREMENT BENEFITS

As stipulated by the relevant rules and regulations in the
PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are required to
contribute to a state-sponsored retirement plan for all of their
employees based on 17% to 20% (2009: 17% to 20%) of the
employee’s basic salary. The state-sponsored retirement plan is
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees and the PRC subsidiaries of the Company have no
further obligations for the actual pension payments or other
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions.
For the year ended 31 December 2010, the retirement plan
contributions amounted to approximately HK$2,437,000
(2009: HK$2,372,000).

immediately.

Contributions to the plan vest

A company in the Group operating in Hong Kong has
participated in Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”), which is a defined contribution pension scheme,
since 1 December 2000. The Company makes monthly
contributions to the scheme based on 5% of the employees’
basic salaries. For the year ended 31 December 2010, the
Group's contributions to the MPF Scheme were approximately
HK$56,000 (2009: HK$54,000). The assets of the fund are
held separately from those of the Group and are managed by
independent professional fund managers. Contributions to the

plan vest progressively.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company
includes a loss of approximately HK$19,016,000 (2009:
HK$25,920,000) which has been dealt with in the financial

statements of the Company.
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13.

14.

Z—ZH+-F=+—RLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

B’ E 13. DIVIDENDS
HE-_Z—ZSFERZZETNFF+ZA=+— No interim and final dividend has been proposed or declared by
HIEMESE - i%ﬂW\%%EﬁEﬂEEP B the directors for the two years ended 31 December 2010 and
REAPZ B o 2009.
BREF 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
a) BREXER a) Basic earnings per share
BREARBNDRBEARBER ARG The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
Z7#7133,359,000/8 T (=TT N4F the earnings attributable to owners of the Company of
84,593,000/ L) A AFEEBITE R approximately HK$133,359,000 (2009: HK$84,593,000)
% hn ¥ F 5 8(1,572,688,0000% (= = and the weighted average number of 1,572,688,000
= L4 ¢ 1,472,075,0000%) 5 & - m (2009: 1,472,075,000) ordinary shares in issue during the
T year, calculated as follows:
—E2-ZF “ZETNF
2010 2009
TR T
000 000
R—A—BETERR Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 1,551,143 1,421,143
BB M EEITHRG Effect of issue of new shares by share
22 (M3E31(0) placement (note 31(b)) 21,370 50,932
RIBERETS BT  Effect of share issued under share option
22 (MEE31(b)) scheme (note 31(b)) 175 =
R+tZA=+—RA%@ER Weighted average number of ordinary shares
IHE 15 B at 31 December 1,572,688 1,472,075
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BE-Z2-—ZF+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

14. BREF (&) 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

b) SREFEF b)
BE-T—ZTHF+T-_A=T—HILFE
Zﬁx%&%ﬁﬂm&ﬁ%m GIE 2PN
JE 165338 1 49133,359,0008 T (ZEF
JLEF 84,593,000 70 ) M 3@ A% e
F19801,573,349,000/% (ZEZNF :
1,472,345,0000%) 5t & - 1A :

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the

year ended 31 December 2010 is based on the profit

attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$133,359,000 (2009: HK$84,593,000) and the
weighted average number of 1,573,349,000 (2009:
1,472,345,000) ordinary shares, calculated as follows:

—B-ZfF —ETNEF
2010 2009
TR T &
000 000
RZE—TF Weighted average number of
+=-—A= ordinary share at
ZER ﬁzm%%ﬁ;ﬁz 31 December 2010 1,572,688 1,472,075
BB AN B0 R R Effect of deemed issue of shares under the
RIELNEREEITRG Company's share option scheme for nil
28 (M333) consideration (note 33) 661 270
RZE-—TF Weighted average number of
+ZA=+—RHBZEBRK ordinary share (diluted) at
Z IR () 31 December 2010 1,573,349 1,472,345
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a) IMEE EEREE
REBBUNBEREEAFESH - REEE
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by business lines. On adoption of HKFRS 8,
Operating segments, and in a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the Chief
Executive Officer, who has been identified as the Group's
chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has

presented two reportable segments as follows:

Rare Earth: The manufacture and sales of rare earth products

(including fluorescent products)

Refractory: The manufacture and sales of refractory products
(including high temperature ceramics products

and magnesium grains)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities
In accordance with HKFRS 8, segment information
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
has been prepared in a manner consistent with the
information used by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer
for the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments. In this regard,
the Group's Chief Executive Officer monitors the results,
assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable

segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible and intangible
assets and current assets with the exception of other
corporate assets which are unallocated to an individual
reportable segment. Segment liabilities include trade
payables, accruals and other payables attributable to
the manufacturing and sales activities of the individual
segments and bank borrowings managed directly by the
segments with the exception of other corporate liabilities
which are unallocated to an individual reportable

segment.
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15. &%
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DEXE - EERAME(E)

W kAX K2 EL2RH 2 HER
KAXAZEDHEIEEEZITER
BHMEIBCRAY  PEZZEHH -

DEERFFERZTER AR
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or

amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measurement used for reporting segment profit is
(“Adjusted

EBIT”). To arrive at adjusted profit before interest and

“adjusted profit before interest and taxes”

taxes, the Group's profits are further adjusted for items
not specifically attributed to an individual reportable
segment, such as interest income and other unallocated

corporate expenses.

In addition to the receiving of segment information
concerning adjusted EBIT, management is provided with
segment information concerning revenue (including
inter-segment sales), interest income and expense from
cash balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets used
by the segments in their operations. Inter-segment sales
are priced with reference to prices charged to external

parties for similar orders.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group’s Chief Executive Officer for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of

segment performance for the year is as follows:
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B E (&) 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
PEHEE BEREE(E) a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)
fit fitk @t
Rare earth Refractory Total
“2-3F C—RTNE CE-BF CITNE CZE-BF CETNE
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Tén Thx TEn TAL TEn TETL
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
REHNEP 2 Wias Revenue from external customers 896,451 637,725 423,053 573958 1,319,504 1,211,683
A Inter-segment revenue 15 25 - - 15 25
RO 6 Reportable segment revenue 896,466 637,750 423,053 573958 1,319,519 1,211,708
ZHHTEA Reportable segment profit
(1 EZEIT) (adjusted EBIT) 125,228 7,258 64,053 150,533 189,281 157,791
FEHA Interest income 1,054 6,081 2,206 1,843 3,260 7,924
BBRA Finance costs (707) (4,761) (186) = (893) (4,761)
nE - HERRE Depreciation of property, plant and
LITE equipment (41,892) (45,378) (48,767) (49,413) (90,659) (94,791)
BEROTENTH Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Hezgs on land under operating leases (2,863) (2,757) (3,047) (2,993) (5,910) (5,750)
BYEE BE Amortisation of intangible assets (30,913) (30,369) - - (30,913) (30,369)
HEME BER&AE  Netgains on disposal of property,
LHEER plant and equipment - 139 b ] 170 P] 309
YRS R BN Impairment loss on trade and other
LHEEE receivables (2,031) (2,395) (8,939) (1,601) (10,970) (3,996)
BRESRREMERS  Write back of impairment loss on
LR EEERE trade and other receivables 390 665 4,606 8,602 4,996 9,267
AemA Rental income 3 S - - 3 =
FrEM Income tax (19,350) (20,504) (19,328) (39,155) (38,678) (59,659)
ERANAE Reportable segment assets 2,285901 1,628,663 1,794,069 1,654,053 4,079,970 3,282,716
EHAHEE Reportable segment liabilities 703,127 520,023 204,339 175,913 907,466 695,936
AEERHAMEE:  Additions to non-current segment assets:
0% BERE - Property, plant and equipment 26,816 13,922 2,138 283 28,954 14,205
-BERNTER - Prepaid lease payments on land
b1tk under operating leases 11,034 - - - 11,034 -
37,850 13,922 2,138 283 39,988 14,205
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

and liabilities

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue
Elimination of inter-segment revenue

Consolidated turnover

Profit
Reportable segment profit
Elimination of inter-segment profit

Reportable segment profit derived from
Group's external customers

Other revenue

Unallocated other income, net

Finance costs

Unallocated corporate expenses

Consolidated profit before taxation

Assets
Reportable segment assets
Elimination of inter-segment receivables

Unallocated cash and cash equivalents
Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets
Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities
Elimination of inter-segment payables

Unallocated bank borrowings
Unallocated corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

i EERBEBEZHE b) Reconciliations of reportable segment profit, assets

—e-25 —TEIASF
2010 2009

FH 7 FH
HK$’000 HK$"000
1,319,519 1,211,708
(15) (25)
1,319,504 1,211,683
189,281 157,791
189,281 157,791
9,887 19,310
254 175
(8,438) (17,968)
(13,265) (14,966)
177,719 144,342
4,079,970 3,282,716
(586,607) (445,146)
3,493,363 2,837,570
158,523 295,118
114,926 106,893
3,766,812 3,239,581
907,466 695,936
(586,607) (445,146)
320,859 250,790
- 232,500

5,018 8,172
325,877 491,462
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

)

The PRC (place of domicile)

5] The United States of America

Hit Others

ERITEEF2ER
AEEZEPERS M REZEZ
Z-—FTE+-_A=+—HILEE"
BE— 2RI BELPZHERED
#172,860,0008 T (Z T TN F :
148,220,000/ 70) - BB AEEE %
210% °

d)

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers and (ii) the Group's property,
plant and equipment, prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases, intangible assets and goodwill
("specified non-current assets”). The geographical
location of customers is based on the location at which
the services were provided or the goods delivered.
The geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on the physical location of the asset in
the case of property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments on land under operating leases, and the
location of the operation to which they are allocated in
the case of intangible assets and goodwill.

HIHNEF Z W& BEXRDEE

Revenue from Specified non-current
external customers assets

—E-EF —TENE —E-FF —EENEF
2010 2009 2010 2009
THET FHT TER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
1,058,931 1,036,856 1,303,825 1,327,816
142,025 73,365 - -
80,026 58,332 - -
30,401 30,670 - —
8,121 12,460 25 35
260,573 174,827 25 35
1,319,504 1,211,683 1,303,850 1,327,851

Information about major customers

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes
only one customer in rare earth segment with whom
sales amounted to approximately HK$172,860,000 (2009:
HK$148,220,000) for the year ended 31 December 2010
that exceeded 10% of the Group’s turnover.
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16. GOODWILL
The Group
FET
HK$’ 000
Cost
At 1 January 2009 296,884
Exchange differences 255
At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010
297,139
Exchange differences 5,587
At 31 December 2010 302,726
Accumulated impairment
At 1 January 2009 211,041
Exchange differences 118
At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010
211,159
Exchange differences 2,596
At 31 December 2010 213,755
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2010 88,971

At 31 December 2009 85,980

Impairment test for cash-generating unit (“CGU")
containing goodwill

Carrying amount of goodwill of approximately HK$88,971,000
as at 31 December 2010 (2009: HK$85,980,000) is attributable
to rare earth segment.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill for rare earth
segment arose from the acquisition of subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 December 2008.

Subsidiaries acquired during the year ended 31 December 2008
are principally engaged in rare earth business.
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BREEREBEAE  HLoBREASEN
ZAREEESD \/\BEETE Hitt - REE
T E2ER_BENFFT_H=1+—HL
MEFE 2GRN SERALERB LD B2
R ERE -

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment test for cash-generating unit (“CGU")
containing goodwill (Continued)

As at 31 December 2010, the Group performed an impairment
review for the CGU of rare earth segment with reference to
the valuation carried out by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting
Limited (“Vigers”), independent qualified professional valuers
not connected with the Group. The recoverable amount of the
CGU of the rare earth segment is determined based on value
in use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period, which is based on the average business and
operation life over the CGU of the rare earth segment. Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated rates stated below. The growth rates do not exceed
the respective long-term average growth rates for the business
in which the CGU of the rare earth segment operates.

Key assumptions used for value in use calculations:

rEE
The Group
—%-%¥F -FIhF
2010 2009
20%-45% 25%-47%
3% 3%
15%-16% 14%

Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on
past performance and its expectation for market development.
This discount rate used is pre-tax rate and reflects specific risks
relating to the relevant segment. Management also believes
that any reasonably change in assumptions on which the
recoverable amount of the CGU of rare earth segment is based
would not cause the carrying amount of the CGU of rare earth
segment to exceed recoverable amount.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU of rare earth segment
is higher than their carrying amount based on value in use
calculations. Accordingly, no impairment loss on goodwill of
rare earth segment is recognised in the consolidated income
statement for the two years ended 31 December 2010 and
20009.
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17. ¥ BERRE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

a) A&KH a) The Group
Kt BOERE
HRZET  BERRE R%E AE ERIR |
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor ~ Construction-
ownuse  equipment  and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total
Thn iR TR ThER ThEn ThER
HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000
RASEE Cost or valuation
RZEENE-A-H At 1 January 2009 255,596 858,771 7,360 6,662 70,076 1,198,465
RE Additions - 1,454 86 330 12,357 14,221
HERTREA Transfer from
construction-in-progress 260 5,038 - - (5,298) -
RE Disposals - (824) - (681) - (1,505)
ERZE Exchange differences 406 1371 " I 116 1915
RISEAETZA=+—H At 31 December 2009
RZF-F5-8-8 and 1 January 2010 256,262 865,810 7457 6,322 77,251 1,213,102
R (M) Surplus on revaluation (note i) 19,063 - = - = 19,063
HE Additions 406 15,032 208 1,058 12,250 28,954
BERIEEA Transfer from
construction-in-progress - 53,813 - - (53,813) -
RE Disposals - (2302 - (179) - (2,481)
ZHESH Elimination of accumulated
depreciation (38,104) - - - - (38,104)
EizR Exchange differences 8,922 31,276 250 235 1,965 42,648
RZE-FEFZF=F-H  At31 December 2010 246,549 963,629 7915 7436 37,653 1,263,182
g Comprising:
RZE-ZFFTZA=F—A  At31December 2010
AR At cost - 963,629 7915 7436 37,653 1,016,633
i E At valuation 246,549 - - - - 246,549
246,549 963,629 7,915 7,436 37,653 1,263,182
RZZEAETZA=ZT—H At 31 December 2009
AR At cost - 865,810 7457 6322 77,251 956,840
A At valuation 256,262 - = = = 256,262
256,262 865,810 7457 6,322 71,251 1,213,102
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BZ-ZF-FF+-A=1+—HIHFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

17. W% - BERRE (B
a) AEE(E)

RRERAE

R-EZENF-R-A

RERFHR
RERE
ENZE

RZEEAF+-A=1-A
i

KREEHR
REEE
EftHEH
ERZR

RoEF-$E+=AZT-E

REE

RoF-$F+=AZ1-E

RZEEAF+-A=1-A

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

a) The Group (Continued)

Kt HAZRE
BAZET  HERRR R%E it ERIE aE
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor  Construction-
ownuse  equipment  and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total
T Tk T T T T
HK$'000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HKS" 000 HK$" 000
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 1 January 2009 - 472,865 6,476 4,000 - 483,341
Charge for the year 18,382 75,211 275 870 - 94,798
Written back on disposals - (824) - (597) - (1.421)
Exchange differences 14 811 10 7 - 84

At 31 December 2009
and 1 January 2010 18,396 548,123 6,761 4,280 - 577,560
Charge for the year 18,741 70,806 286 837 - 90,670
Written back on disposals - (2,302) - (179 - (2,481)
Elimination on revaluation (38,104) - - - - (38,104)
Exchange differences 967 20,259 28 160 - 21,614
At 31 December 2010 - 636,836 1,275 5,098 - 649,259

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2010 246,549 326,743 640 2338 37,653 613,923
At 31 December 2009 237,866 317,687 696 2,042 71,251 635,542
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BE-Z2-—ZF+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

17. W¥ BERRE E®)
AEW(E)

a)

i)

REBRZET AR S ERE
FHEARAEZ L -

AREREERZEFTFR-_F—
BE+-_A=+—RzEMHKED
REBRBRINZAETZEER
REH -BHEGEEDAEERAN

WEXRET KEEEHEFE
ERAMBRZAGEZER
AR BN AR MIRIEE
RitH -

BHEZZT-—THF+-A=1+—8
IEFE - Mﬁaﬁm&s?zgm
E$24719,063,00078 T E R E
Z2HERS AR °

R-—ZTE—TF+-_A=+—8"
WZEREE B 2B FRE AR
2 MERMEYR - AIREE
1 4)/5187,927,00008 T (—EE
HLE 1 227,775,000 7T) °

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
The Group (Continued)

a)

i)

The buildings held for own use are situated on land

held under medium-term leases in the PRC.

The revaluation of the Group’s buildings held for
own use as at 31 December 2010 has been arrived
at on the basis of valuations carried out on that date
by Vigers. The valuation is based on a depreciable
replacement cost approach and is arrived at by
taking into consideration of the replacement cost of
the buildings and deductions to account for the age,
condition, economic or functional obsolescence and
environmental factors existing at that date.

For the year ended 31 December 2010,
revaluation surplus for buildings held for own
use of approximately HK$19,063,000 have been

recognised in other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2010, had these buildings held
for own use been carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, the carrying amount
would have been approximately HK$187,927,000
(2009: HK227,775,000).
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17. M%E - - BERRE (B
b) AAF

S L R

R E
RZTENFE—A—H
REE R
RZZEZNAF+=ZA=1T—H

kR=ZFE-TF—HF—H
REE R

R-ZEZAF+_A=+—H

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

b) The Company

Cost
At 1 January 2009
Additions

At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010

Additions

At 31 December 2010

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2009
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2010

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2010

At 31 December 2009

RERBREE

Office
equipment
and fixtures
TET
HK$' 000

345
22

367

367

325

332
10

342

25

35
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BE-Z2-—ZF+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

18. REMHNTHNLHHES 18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND UNDER
OPERATING LEASES
rEE
The Group

—E-FF —ETNEF

2010 2009

FTHERT FET

HK$’ 000 HK$" 000

R—A—RAZEAE Carrying amount at 1 January 262,862 268,190

NE Additions 11,034 -

NEFHH Amortisation for the year (5,910) (5,750)

EHLER Exchange differences 9,233 422

R+ZA=+—HAZKHEE Carrying amount at 31 December 277,219 262,862

RABEZEE T Leasehold land in the PRC:

HHIAE A9 Medium-term leases 277,219 262,862
MBEBMMEL Z2DTWOT ! Analysed for reporting purposes as:

mE)EE Current asset 6,184 5,756

FRBEE Non-current asset 271,035 257,106

277,219 262,862

RNEEHHT H41,378,0008 L (=TT A The amortisation charges of approximately HK$1,378,000

£F 11,353,000/ 70) &4,532,0008 0 (=& (2009: HK$1,353,000) and HK$4,532,000 (2009:

TNEF 1 4,397,000 L) 5 BlET ARG W HK$4,397,000) for the year are included in cost of sales and

RAHEXNAREEEBRA - administrative expenses respectively in the consolidated income

statement.
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19. B EE
rEW

B
R-ZENE-H-H
EREE

R-F-FF+=A=t-A

Rit B
R-BENE—A-A
AEERS
EiER

R-FEAFT-AZ+-A
R-%-B5—fA-A

FEERY

2R

R-F-FF+=A=t-A

RaE
R-F-FFt-AZt-R

R-FEAE+-AZ1-R

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group
BLBYNNS
HLIBEN ATEZER RLEBEMZ
BRRBE EXAE RWEXOR e
Technical
Exclusive  know-how for
right to preliminary Technical
purchase  separation of know-how
rare earth rare earth  for rare earth
minerals minerals metal products Total
FHET ThAx TAT TR
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
Cost
At 1 January 2009 201,502 61,687 115,825 379,014
Exchange differences 320 98 184 602
At 31 December 2009
and 1 January 2010 201,822 61,785 116,009 379,616
Exchange differences 7,021 2,149 4,036 13,206
At 31 December 2010 208,843 63,934 120,045 392,822
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2009 - - - -
Amortisation for the year 12,604 6,173 11,592 30,369
Exchange differences 10 5 9 24
At 31 December 2009
and 1 January 2010 12,614 6,178 11,601 30,393
Amortisation for the year 12,830 6,284 11,799 30,913
Exchange differences 661 325 609 1,595
At 31 December 2010 26,105 12,787 24,009 62,901
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2010 182,738 51,147 96,036 329,921
At 31 December 2009 189,208 55,607 104,408 349,223
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BE-Z2-—ZF+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

19. BEEE (&)

a)

b)

BIBEYBRREE a)
R-ZZLF+—A+HA  TEER
ERBEER MM HERAF ([H
EHL]) B -REFHBRFRTRR
BRALA R BB AT EH 2 LR
RAREZ BB HEER ([ZERE
B (—KEPBEEMKZZ A R) 3’
BRI EMBERRBE LT Ha
(RBEwmE]) - RIBRBHZ - ZHE
BRER-Z_tLtF+—-—A=+HHE
M0 RABER L BRLER
TBEY - NZ20FHE HEKL=E
BRZHRER 2 LRV BRREE -

BIBMBREBREARBE_Z
ENFEF+ZA=+—BILFERNKE
BER L 2 R A AR -

BIBMBREBEAEERERF
B YNERE2ERLIBEHEI6F
Bt G EAE T 8

BrBUAL DB RMEENR b)

ZEMBENBARREETITRE
BREMBHERZH LR T 5B
RMAER LEANRBE_TENF
T A=+t HEFERAUBERER
T EBE G AR o

EMEXABEBEERERFR &
BRENREMGE AR AFERI0FETT
B -

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals

On 15 November 2007, Jianghua Yao Nationality
Autonomous County Xinghua Rare Earth Company
Limited (“Xinghua Rare Earth”) entered into an
Agreement for the acquisition of the exclusive right to
purchase rare earth minerals (“Purchase Agreement”)
from a rare earth minerals supplier (“the Supplier”),
a company established in the PRC with exclusive rare
earth mining rights granted by the local government for
exploiting rare earth minerals from a mine located in
Jianghua County of Hunan Province, the PRC. Pursuant
to the Purchase Agreement, the Supplier agreed to
exclusively sell rare earth minerals to Xinghua Rare Earth
throughout a period of 20 years expiring on 30 November
2027. During the 20-year period, Xinghua Rare Earth
is entitled to the exclusive right to purchase rare earth

minerals from the Supplier.

The exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals was
acquired as part of the business combination of Xinghua
Rare Earth during the year ended 31 December 2008.

The exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals has
finite useful life and is amortised on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful live of 16 years with reference

to the minerals reserves of the rare earth mine.

Technical know-how for preliminary separation of
rare earth minerals

The technical know-how relates to the technology on the
preliminary separation of rare earth minerals which will
reduce certain processing phases and raw materials usage
and was acquired as part of the business combination of
Xinghua Rare Earth during the year ended 31 December
2008.

The technical know-how has finite useful live and is
amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful

live of 10 years.
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19. BEEE (&) 19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

0 WRrIeBERZEMEFME ¢) Technical know-how for rare earth metal products
ZEMEENSHREESBFER T The technical know-how relates to the technology on
EmZBEMEH WEARBE-Z manufacturing of rare earth products in metal form
ENFFTZA=ZF+—BLEEFERAKE and was acquired as part of the business combination
MFZR /LM ERRAER of Heping County Dongye Rare Earth Company Limited
B B2 AR o during the year ended 31 December 2008.
RMEXRMNBEBEARERFEH I The technical know-how has finite useful live and is
REGENEMGERFHI0FEST amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful
By o live of 10 years.

RRAREERE RZZE—ZTFER=ZTTN The directors of the Company are of the opinion that there

Ft+ZA=+—8 " VETRBTIHLIEY is no indication of impairment in the carrying amounts of the

BREBEIZERMAH 2 ROEDRR exclusive right to purchase rare earth minerals and technical

B At BHEELRERE - know-how as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 and accordingly

no impairment is necessary.

20 RB AR 2RE 20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
RAT]

The Company
—E-2F ZETNF
2010 2009
THER FAET
HK$'000 HK$’ 000
F LMD - RKAE Unlisted shares, at cost 151,707 151,707
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BE-Z2-—ZF+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

BT

HEARZE

Name of subsidiary

HRERERAA

Lee Shing Holdings Limited

EHMERES(LR)ARA
(Kr&E(a))

l

Wellfire (Shanghai) Company

Limited (note (a))

Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc.

Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc.

ERFFNABLERAT
(Krt(b)

Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare
Earth Company Limited
(note (b))

ERMAMERA T BHERAT

(H(a))

Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refra
Materials Co., Ltd.
(note (@)

ctory

20. RMBRARZRE (9)
R_ZE-—ZF+-_A=+—80 WBRAH

GLEAYE
Pa LA EE

Place and date
of incorporation/
operations

EBRAAE
“hWANE+ZR=H

British Virgin Islands
3 December 1998

PE
“TTTF-A-t0A

The PRC

24 February 2000
RERLESD

= £ L ISP

British Virgin Islands
31 May 2000

hE
“AAZFLATLA

The PRC
17 July 1993
TE

“hANELA=TH

The PRC
30 July 1999

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
At as 31 December 2010, the details of subsidiaries are as

follows:
KERH gk
Ly BARRA
Registered
(Class of and fully
shares held paid capital
AR -
Ordinary -
HAER 200,000%7
Contributed capital 1U$$200,000
L3k -
Ordinary =
HAER 1566000057
Contributed capital 1S$15,660,000
BAER  17,000,000%7
Contributed capital ~ US$17,000,000

BRAR
BHERE

Issued

and fully

paid capital

WET

US$20

PES

Uss2

ARARGER/
BRERRAERES
Effective percentage
of equity interests/

voting rights held
by the Company
B f
Directly  Indirectly
% %
100 =
100 -
100 =
100 -
= 100
- 100
= 95
- 95
- 100
- 100

Principal activities

REERK

Investment holding

Trading

Investment holding

RERHERL
BlLNER

Manufacturing and
sales of rare earth
oxide products

RERYS
HES

Manufacturing and
sales of refractory
products
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20. AMIB AT ZKRE (&)

HEARZR

Name of subsidiary

ERMHIOUTHERDT
(Hit(a))

Wuxi Xinwei Fluorescent
Materials Co., Ltd.

(note ()

WHERARAA

Microtech Resources Limited
hERLEAERAT

China Rare Earth Trading Limited

BB RRREERAA
(Kf&t(a))

Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature
Ceramics Co., Ltd.
(note (a))

BT RS EBARAA
(H3(o)

Haicheng City Suhai Magnesium
Ore Co,, Ltd. (note (c)

iftny/ g8
ZBHRAH

Place and date
of incorporation/
operations

HE
“55-F+Zf-+H

The PRC
20 December 2001

B

“AANETAZT=R

Hong Kong
23 October 1998

5
“ETEEZACAA

Hong Kong
24 March 2000

hE
“E5-FMA-A

The PRC
1 April 2002

hE
“EE-FRA-tLA

The PRC
27 April 2002

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BERR
£3

Class of
shares held

UN-U

Contributed capital

mh
oo
=

Ordinary

EER

Ordinary

NV

Contributed capital

HAER

Contributed capital

BERR
BARRE

Registered

and fully

paid capital

8,520,005

US$8,520,000

30,000,000

HK$30,000,000

N
25,000,0007C

RMB25,000,000

BEfTR
BERRE

Issued
and fully
paid capital

W

HKS$2

W

HKS$2

Principal activities

Manufacturing and
sales of fluorescent
products

g%

Trading

LEH

Dormant

RERHE

REREER

Manufacturing and

sales of high

temperature
ceramics products

LG
BVER

ARREGEES/
ERERRAEREAL TEXH
Effective percentage
of equity interests/
voting rights held
by the Company
E# 3
Directly  Indirectly
% %
- 100
= 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
= 100
- 100

Manufacturing and
sales of magnesium
products
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20. AMIB AT ZKRE (&)

B A-1 ]
HEARZR ZHERAH
Place and date
of incorporation/
Name of subsidiary operations
BERAREFEBIHERAA hE
(P3Ha) I Y e
Yixing Wellfire Nonmetal The PRC
Materials Co., Ltd. (note (3)) 27 September 2006
ERTRNREERERAR hE
() ZEE ENAZHNA
Hai Cheng Xinwei Leeshing The PRC
Magnesium Resources Co., Ltd. 28 September 2006
(note (a)
NIER B LIHNHERLA HE
GiR{0) “IERET-A+AA
Heping County Dongye Rare The PRC
Earth Company Limited 15 November 2005
(note (¢))
TEERRRGRERT hE

MR ERAR (W) “EERFIACTOA

Jianghua Yao Nationality Autonomous The PRC
County Xinghua Rare Earth 22 May 2006
Company Limited (note (c))

FRARARAT Bk

ZEENE-ACt=H

Silver Mile Holdings Limited Hong Kong

23 January 2009

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

KERR g2tk

£h BARRA

Registered

(Class of and fully

shares held paid capital
BAER 300000057
Contributed capital U5$3,000,000
BAER  3500,000%7
Contributed capital U5$3,500,000
FAER AR 20,000,000
Contributed capital ~ RMB20,000,000

GAER ARE20,000,0007

Contributed capital

ul=s
e
==

Ordinary

RMB20,000,000

BEfTR
BARER

Issued
and fully
paid capital

18T

HK$1

Principal activities

REREE
HARBER

Manufacturing and
sales of refractory
related products

RERHE
BYER

Manufacturing and
sales of magnesium
products

RERBERL
ERER

Manufacturing and
sales of rare earth
metal products

RERBERLIRND

Manufacturing and
sales of rare earth
minerals

REER

ARREGEER/
ARERRARBEAL TEEH

Effective percentage

of equity interests/
voting rights held
by the Company

E# Rt

Directly  Indirectly

% %

- 100

- 100

= 100

- 100

- 95

- 95

- 95

- 95

- 100

= 100

Investment holding
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20 RB AR RE (&) 20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
B3LAYE 1] KERH Bk BEAR ARREGES/
HEARER ZHHRAH g5 BARRA  BHRRE ARERRAEBEAL IERE
Effective percentage
Place and date Registered Issued of equity interests/
of incorporation/ (Class of and fully and fully voting rights held
Name of subsidiary operations shares held paid capital  paid capital by the Company Principal activities

B B
Directly  Indirectly

% %
ERZRESERERAR i BAEA  200,000,000%7 - - 00 HXEE
GER) ZR-RET-ACtRE
Yixing Changrong Trading The PRC  Contributed capital ~ HK$200,000,000 - = 100 Not yet commenced
Development Co., Ltd. (note (a)) 26 November 2010 business
ERERARAT (3 Lk - 1T - 100 HAREZ
ZE-TETZARH
Golden Mile Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1 - 100 Not yet commenced
6 December 2010 business
M EE Notes:
a) WBEBEFREFEMRLAIEBEERE - a)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned foreign
enterprise.
b) REBEHBUEPIFMA ARG ERE - b)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as a sino-foreign equity
enterprise.
Q) WP ENIMERLAEREEAT Q) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability
enterprise.
LA Y 8 2 R B R 4 B S IR (A None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at
BEEEERZERES - the end of the year or within any time during the year.
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 RAEEHRE AR
R-E—FEF+-A=+—0 A£ERT
BI| 3 B £ A 20 5 7 B U A AR ¢

HRRL/
EREH E3 Y D7 EEHY
Form of Place of
business incorporation/
Name of entity structure operation
BAS(RE) Rl ERAE HE
ARAT
OSRAM (China) Incorporated The PRC
Fluorescent Materials
Co. Ltd.

FAN - BB ZAMEARLEEE14,500,0008 7T
BRI -

RARBER ARG BB ERZ L OIA 60X
NEBERRTAARVBERBEZNT

21. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY
At 31 December 2010, the Group had interests in the
following significant jointly controlled entity:

AEEAE
s &R EREREE LA FERERZMA  TEER
Proportion of nominal
(Class of value of registered Proportion of
shares held capital held by the Group  voting power held  Principal activity

SE-RF CITAF OCER-RF CTIAR
2010 2009 2010 2009

HAER 49.9% - 50% - B RE EER
HERXEM
Contributed 49.9% - 50% - Research, development,
capital production and sales
of phosphor products

Total registered capital of the entity of EURO14,500,000 has
been fully paid during the year.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
interests in the jointly controlled entity which is accounted
for using proportionate consolidation with the line-by-line
reporting format is set out below:

—B-FF —ETNF

2010 2009

FHRT FET

HK$’000 HK$' 000

mE)E E Current assets 52,442 =
FERBEE Non-current assets 23,981 =
MENBE Current liabilities (4,397) =
ERBAE Non-current liabilities - =
—g-%F —TIAE

2010 2009

FET FET

HK$' 000 HK$" 000

WA Income 42 =
122 % Expenses (874) =
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22. HHEESEES

BAVEIRZER
LR E S

FR - AEETHEEREZEEBASE
15,760,000 L (ZEZNF : T L) ER
Hitb2ER TR -

HEZ-ZF+_A=+—BLFEH
B AEEIRBRIISETHESS LT
1 7 7% % 280,000,000 8 I 10 - 7 U i3
& RRBBUFATESHETELLES
FAZETMRABIZEIER -

BE-F-2F+=-A=1+—HILHFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

22.

in Hong Kong

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE EQUITY SECURITIES

Listed equity securities at fair value

AEERAEADF
The Group and the Company
—E-2F ZETNF
2010 2009
THERT FET
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
14,240 -

During the year, the gross loss in respect of the Group’s
available-for-sale investment recognised in other
comprehensive income amounted to HK$15,760,000 (2009:
HKS$Nil).

The fair value of listed equity securities are based on market
prices. There were no impairment provisions on available-for-

sale equity securities as at 31 December 2010 and 2009.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group acquired
80,000,000 ordinary shares of a listed equity security in Hong
Kong at HK$0.375 each. Subsequent to the acquisition, Mr.
Huang Chunhua, an independent non-executive director of the
Company, was appointed as the deputy chairman of the listed

company.
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23. & 23.
a) HMEMBRARZEFERRE:
JR#1 # Raw materials
EHm Work in progress
ERK Finished goods
b) HBRARIZEELBZHWHOT :

INVENTORIES
a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

rEE

The Group
—B-FF —ETNF
2010 2009
THERT FET
HK$’'000 HK$’ 000
311,957 44,035
124,102 100,291
175,668 90,264
611,727 234,590

b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as

an expense is as follows:

rxEH

The Group
—E-EfF —ZETNF
2010 2009
FHRT FET
HK$' 000 HK$'000
EERFEZRAME Carrying amount of inventories sold 1,038,742 957,555
FEMR Write down of inventories 16,059 22,691
5 & MR |l Reversal of write-down of inventories (23,371) =
1,031,430 980,246

EETEMERENARTREDRETE
BREFMAZTBIFEZ HE - SHE
FER 2T RRFEEN -
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The reversal of write-down of inventories arose due to an
increase in the estimated net realisable value of certain
products as a result of change in market condition and sales of
certain products which had been written down to net realisable
value in prior years.
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24, BEWERREREMERR BARER

e

FELBZEEM (B 5% (b)) Trade receivables (note (b))

EURAEBHZFIE  Amount due from a joint
(Mi5E25) venture partner (note 25)

H fth FE UK Other receivables

B R EBGR Loans and receivables

SEERE: IE&? Prepayments and deposits

Wi

a)  BRENRERZEI ARSI REMD
ERFEHTR —FRKRE -

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

AND DEPOSITS

rEH NN

The Group The Company
—E-BF C_—TTNF ZB-BF _"ITTNF
2010 2009 2010 2009
TERT FET THER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
345,053 382,815 - =
3,595 - - -
19,767 84,580 29 67
368,415 467,395 29 67
98,079 68,645 850 746
466,494 536,040 879 813

Notes:

a)

All of the trade and other receivables, apart from prepayments
and deposits, are expected to be recovered within one year.

b) EBWERZERITAT : b)  The ageing analysis of the trade receivables is as follows:
rEE
The Group

—E-ZF —ETNF

2010 2009

FERT FAT

HK$’ 000 HK$' 000

BVER 2618 A AR Current to less than 6 months 314,178 365,996

[JEEIEINA 6 months to less than 1 year 26,974 13,861

1228 AR 1 to less than 2 years 12,602 13,451

26 E Over 2 years 18,120 10,747

371,874 404,055

W IR TR EEE Less: Impairment loss on trade receivables (26,821) (21,240)

345,053 382,815

AEBELTEEHEFI0E1808 2 F915 The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 180 days to
=¢-: [0 its trade customers.

AEEEERTEEP OB N RAR
FRERY - AEERMETPHEEER
B EEAKERRABZHET A ES
FERE HERPETHERELEERR
ZEBREREERET ERELECA

27 e BR SR BRAE @

Credit is offered to customers following an assessment of their
financial abilities and payment track record. Credit limits are set
out for all customers and these can be exceeded only with the
approval of senior officers of the Group. Business with customers
considered to have a credit risk is conducted on a cash basis.
Management monitors overdue trade receivables and follows up
collections.
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BE-Z2-—ZF+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

24. EWRF R EM WS - B ER  24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS
5 A ) AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
BisE : () Notes: (Continued)
0 EREFRREAMEKZRE ¢ Impairment of trade and other receivables
WA EMERZRERBEZEE0M The movement of impairment loss on trade and other receivables
D are as follows:
rEE
The Group
—E-ZF —EENF
2010 2009
FHER FHET
HK$'000 HK$' 000
R—HA—H At 1 January 23,005 28,235
AEZRKER R EM Write back of impairment loss on trade and other
FE U OB B S R receivables during the year (4,996) (9,267)
RNEEE MR EUHRR Impairment loss on trade and other receivables
REAM RN OB EEE recognised during the year 10,970 3,996
EHER Exchange differences 903 41
R+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 29,882 23,005

JEUS AR 3R e A FE MR 2 R E S R ER A
BRFIER - BRIEAREERAZ IR KB
TR EZERT - HEBESERKR
R E At R R E M (BB RE20)0)) -

JFE U B R e L A MR RO B S 1R 8 [ 5 S Al
RATIARIE %% LR TR E At e R
ZEREY - BEFEE R 2 TR ER
R EBHERET ARD -

N-ZE-ZBFE+_A=+—H0 X£H
5 204929,882,0008 L (Z 2T N & :
23,005,000/ 7T ) F&E U5 B 35 K £ fth 8 Ut 5K M
RETEBRELC L 2EEE - ZSE7
RERKRARARAMLEE ABBIFE
REERBEBEATERREAR ZE
E I - 5 E R IR 24 4910,970,0007 7T (=
TEAE 3,996,000 7T) E RN ERFER
AEBVERZSEHFETMERS -

Impairment losses in respect of trade and other receivables
are recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is
satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the
impairment loss is written off against trade and other receivables
directly (see note 2(j)(i)).

Write back of impairment loss on trade and other receivables
represents the recovery of debts due from these trade and other
receivables previously considered to be impaired. An allowance
for the non-recoverable amounts that had been made in previous
years was written back accordingly.

As at 31 December 2010, trade and other receivables of the
Group amounting to approximately HK$29,882,000 (2009:
HK$23,005,000) were individually determined to be impaired
and full provision had been made. These individually impaired
receivables had been outstanding for over 1 year as at the
end of the reporting period or were due from companies with
financial difficulties. Accordingly, specific allowances for doubtful
debts of approximately HK$10,970,000 (2009: HK$3,996,000)
were recognised during the year. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.
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24, BUWRRREMBERR  AAKEAR 24

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

B& (&) AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
BisE : () Notes: (Continued)
o FEUERREEMEKRTREE) ¢  Impairment of trade and other receivables (Continued)
A5 B R 51 78 e 52 55 e W BR K % EL A P L The factors which the Group considered in determining whether
FEEHBRERZEEZEZRBENTS these trade and other receivables were individually impaired
2 include the following:
- BEBAEBREAMBESE - significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
- REFERIERETHRE - receivables that have been outstanding for a certain period;
- B A B A 0% 2 R A i 1 /0 B - the Group granting to the debtor, for economic or legal
BRE  ANEBEREHARDREMD reasons relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty, a
BETEEEZER concession that the Group would not otherwise consider;
- EBATEHBEREIETE MM - it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter into
B8R bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and
- BYIRMERE  BERDEHEERE - observable data indicating that there is a measurable
ROEEEBHBRENKEEBAZ decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the
BHARREREHBE A EZR debtor since their initial recognition, although the decrease
L BEREERE cannot yet be identified including:
- FKEBBEBAZHRBERLR - adverse changes in the payment status of debtors of
THEE : & the Group; and
- HZCSR B R AR AR R EL A e LR - economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
RERBREBEZIEBEARR - the trade and other receivables of the Group.
d  WEREZEKERER d)  Trade receivables that are not impaired
I A8 5 3 £ R AR RS BRRUE < FEUBR 3R The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither
ZERRATWT : individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are as
follows:
rEE
The Group
—E-ZF —ZTTNhE
2010 2009
FHT FHET
HK$’' 000 HK$' 000
K@ B RRE Neither past due nor impaired 314,178 366,740
1 #3 L rA61E A Less than 6 months past due 26,974 14,445
B HA R A6 ME BB D14 More than 6 months but less than 1 year past due 3,537 272
BEABBIFEDR2F More than 1 year but less than 2 years past due 364 1,358
30,875 16,075
345,053 382,815

127

Annual Report

2010 %



128

Annual Report

2010 3

B 5 ¥k = it 5E

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-ZE—-2F+-A=1—HIEE For the year ended 31 December 2010

24, BUWRRREMEBERR  BAAKER

25.

26.

i AC )
GERNC))
O WA KRR ()

RO BRREZERFBES RITHE
BHRREEBZEFRR -

EAMERREEBURARS R AAEE
RERMFEECECBUEFEH - KRB
EEER BEERE ARNEEERTES
REF  BZSHEKDBEE R 2ERE -
WA E AARELRERE - AEEY
BRZEERTEEMERR -

W (B MBAR - SEBHR
EEXHE

i (BRMBAR A8BHRESY
REREER 2ERARBELKEE -

CHEFBRTERRZRHRITEER

R-ZE-ZF+-A=+—R BEMRT
BFREZBHRITERMOT :

24.

25.

26.

EHERBRITER Pledged bank deposits
(Ft#E(a)) (note (a))

IR I RAT 4 R Restricted bank balances
) (note (b))

W BVERED D

FERNERED {0

Less: Current portion

Non-current portion

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)
d) Trade receivables that are not impaired (Continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES, A

JOINT VENTURE PARTNER AND DIRECTORS
Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries, a joint venture partner

and directors are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED BANK
BALANCES
As at 31 December 2010, the pledged bank deposits and

restricted bank balances are as follows:

rEE ANV

The Group The Company
—2-285 _—TTHF CZB-2F _TTHF
2010 2009 2010 2009
THER TET THEx TR
HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’000
99,777 - - -
2,868 32,072 - 28,529
102,645 32,072 - 28,529
(2,868) (8,822) - (5,279)
99,777 23,250 - 23,250
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26.

27.

EEARTERRZR G R T

(&)

a) MR-T—ZFE+_A=+—H0 BHEH
8 1717 31 4999,777,0007% JT #5 /& JE HL
By AEB 2 RTERMEE TR
ZIER » ZEFIRETEFEFE.25%5T
=)

o

by RZZE—ZFER-_ZTTNF+=A
=+—B XRHRITERIERTHR
mETHERETERBMATE KR
HZRITES  URALTEEZER
AERBMBOERESTERTERZ
ISR - 9 Rl R E4)2,868,000
BIL(ZEETNF ¢ 8,822,000 L) &
HZB T (ZTFTNF + 23,250,000
TT) c XBHIRITEBREREBEZR S
TTRE T LABRRR o ZBRGIRITAERMET
BREE036%B(ZETNE 032%
%£0.36%)5TE °

O AEEEBRERR
HAFEREE -

ERZREER

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED BANK
BALANCES (Continued)

a)

At 31 December 2010, pledged bank deposits of
approximately HK$99,777,000 are pledged to bank
to secure bank borrowings granted to the Group. The
deposits carry fixed interest rate at 1.25% per annum.

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, restricted bank balances
represent deposits required and restricted by banks in
respect of the issue of letters of credit to certain suppliers
and the financial covenant requirement for the Group
to maintain minimum bank deposit for unsecured long-
term bank borrowings amounting to approximately
HK$2,868,000 (2009: HK$8,822,000) and approximately
HK$Nil (2009: HK$23,250,000) respectively. The
restricted bank balances will be released upon the
completion of the respective transactions. The restricted
bank balances carry interest at market rates of 0.36%
(2009: 0.32% to 0.36%).

The management of the Group considers that the carrying
amount of deposits approximates their fair values.

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

ReRBAEEEER

RITIF K Deposits with banks
BITRFHEHZES Cash at bank and on hand
e RHFELEEBEH  Cash and cash equivalents

RekHeSEREREASEARE 2 EE
KMIRBRITHH M E T F0.11%E0.38% 5 &
ZEHAAZ@ANIA T ZEHEITER
EERE HekBeSEEECEREES
FENARPHALEER 2 A TFETESRE

7

rEH ZANN|

The Grou The Company
—2-BF C_—TTNF ZB-BF _ITTNF
2010 2009 2010 2009
THET FHET THERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
148,606 210,609 113,282 210,609
1,080,322 854,515 25,335 83,013
1,228,928 1,065,124 138,617 293,622

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group

and short-term bank deposits with a maturity of three months

or less at prevailing market interest rates at 0.11% to 0.38%.

In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amount of cash

and cash equivalents has no material difference from their fair

values at the end of the reporting period.
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28. BNRN  BREARAEMBESR 28. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER
PAYABLES
rEE PN
The Group The Company
—E-BF C—ZTTNF ZB-BF —TTNF
2010 2009 2010 2009
FTET FET TER FHET
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000
J& - BR 3K Trade payables 80,723 76,625 - =
TEIRF S R EM Accrued expenses and other
JE 1 /I8 payables 23,758 23,394 4,747 7,297
WM BE K Payables for acquisition of
B2 B SRIE property, plant and
equipment 3,644 13,619 - -
REHEKR AT E Financial liabilities measured at
ZHBaE amortised cost 108,125 113,638 4,747 7,297
7B SRIA Receipt in advance 6,366 7,811 - =
H b IR Other tax payables 6,974 8,836 - =
121,465 130,285 4,747 7,297
FERTBR R Z BREC DT LA The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:
rEE
The Group
—E-FF ZETNF
2010 2009
FExT FAT
HK$' 000 HK$" 000
BERZ=61E A AR Current to less than 6 months 70,868 64,640
61E A = 1F AR 6 months to less than 1 year 7,691 7,491
122F AR 1 to less than 2 years 868 3,225
26 F Over 2 years 1,296 1,269
80,723 76,625
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29. RITER 29. BANK BORROWINGS
AZE—TF+-A=1+—H AEEZR As at 31 December 2010, the bank loans are repayable as
TERWET : follows:
TEH b NN

The Grou The Company
—E2-FF C—TTNF ZE-BF Z—IZTThF
2010 2009 2010 2009
TERT FHT TER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
1FEARIEER Within 1 year or on demand 99,389 108,158 - 96,875
1F®E2FER After 1 year but within 2 years - 116,250 - 116,250
2B ESFA After 2 years but within 5 years - 19,375 - 19,375
RITEREHE Total bank loans 99,389 243,783 - 232,500

HmEBMMIEL Analysis for reporting

ZAMBAT puUrposes as:
mEAaRE Current liabilities 99,389 108,158 - 96,875
ERBEE Non-current liabilities - 135,625 - 135,625
99,389 243,783 - 232,500
R-_ZE—TF+-_A=+—H  $f7EE2 As at 31 December 2010, the details of bank borrowings is as
FEIEESIIT follows:
rEH b NN
The Group The Company
—E-EF —EENF —E-EF —EENF
2010 2009 2010 2009
TET FAT THERT FHET
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000
BHEM Secured 99,389 11,283 - =
K 4R Unsecured - 232,500 - 232,500
99,389 243,783 - 232,500 131
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29. BITER(E)

B AT

a)

e)

AEBAABITERYUETHE R
ZT-TF+Z ﬂ +—8 " BITERD
94,018,000/ ;L A A RH#EFHE ©

FIARITEZREIRFHFENENT3.28%Z=
5.10% (ZZENF : N F0.36%%F4.43%)
B EEEERONTAT(ZTTNE .
155,000,00058 7T) & & B & 7| £6.5% 5 &
BN e

BEEARBBETERNTEL(ZZTA
F 232,500,000,%7c)57\\ R TRITERTD
LB R T 17 30 4999,777,0008 L (=&
TNF  THT) RIEMKERF 45,980,000/
T (ZZETNF 12,942,000/ 7T ) 1EIKIH o
%_i—f@r B=+—8 AEERF
BEEMBITEREBIL EERIRER BT
EEL? TR 129,721,000/ 7T) °

HREE-_ZZNF+_A=+—HREEZ
AR #4258 A%9232,500,000/ 7T < EIEH K
HRTERME ARBEARGTE TYBR
B(—RANESBEBII L2 ERTHR
#ﬂ) WAEERRRZY  AIERRZE
ERRARERER ASETHEEHHZ
§Q%’JZA%EI T BRAASERYESR
BER 2 — HHBEH NI TE350)

BERR ROBERZREERRERER
HREEAZAFEYEERER -

29. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

a)

All of the Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in United
States dollars, except for bank borrowings of approximately
HK$94,018,000 which are denominated in RMB as at 31
December 2010.

All bank borrowings are variable-rate borrowings which carry
prevailing interest rates ranging from 3.28% to 5.10% (2009:
ranging from 0.36% to 4.43%) per annum, except for fixed-rate
borrowings of approximately HK$Nil (2009: HK$155,000,000),
which are charged at prevailing interest rate at 6.50% per
annum.

Except for unsecured long-term bank borrowings of
approximately HK$Nil (2009: HK$232,500,000), the remaining
bank borrowings were secured by the pledged bank deposits
of approximately HK$99,777,000 (2009: HK$Nil) and
trade receivables of approximately HK$5,980,000 (2009:
HK$12,942,000). As at 31 December 2010, the Group has no
undrawn banking facilities after repayment of relevant bank
borrowings during the year (2009: HK$29,721,000).

In respect of the unsecured long-term bank borrowings with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$232,500,000
outstanding at 31 December 2009, the Group is subject to the
fulfillment of certain financial covenants, as are commonly found
in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group
were to breach the covenants, the facilities drawn down would
become payable on demand. The Group regularly monitors its
compliance with these covenants. Further details of the Group's
management of liquidity risk are set out in note 35(b).

In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amounts of bank
borrowings are not significantly different from their fair values at
the end of the reporting period.
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30. REREHBRR R ZITEB 30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

a) REAMBKARER ZANGMEH a) Current income tax recognised in the consolidated

BERNZFEIAT statement of financial position and the movement during

the year are as follows:

rEH
The Group
—E2-Z2fF —EENF
2010 2009
FTHER FAT
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
BRI EMREN PRC EIT
R—HA—H At 1 January 2,298 (18,087)
REEEE (T3E8G)) Provision for the year (note 8(a)) 49,000 69,454
REEZ N2 EEMEH EIT paid during the year (50,152) (49,056)
EHER Exchange differences 61 (13)
RN+ZA=+—H At 31 December 1,207 2,298
NGRSO Income tax recoverable recognised in the
TR 2 AT Y B AT 153X consolidated statement of financial position (8,586) (16,509)
NGNS W Income tax payable recognised in the
BRZENEH consolidated statement of financial position 9,793 18,807
FEfT 2 BRI 58 Net tax payable 1,207 2,298
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30. REREMBRRKRZFAER (&)

ERABZELEHBEERER
REGREEEE RBEZRILFE
AHRZEERBEE(BE)ZEE

AR AR T

ARG ERE ZBERE:
RZEENF-A-H
BEFHA/ (GI3)

(P 3E8(a))

RZEENET-A=1-H
R=Z-%25-8-8
2 ARETIX

BaFar A/ (%)
(HiE8()

(¥ A7
it A

EiER

KoF-FEHAt-R

Deferred tax arising from:

At 1 January 2009

Credited/(charged) to income
statement (note 8(a))

Exchange differences

At 31 December 2009 and
1 January 2010
Charged to other
comprehensive income
Credited/(charged) to income
statement (note 8(a))
Credited to equity for effect
on change in tax rate

Exchange differences

At 31 December 2010

30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
The major components of the deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) provided for at the end of the reporting period
and for the year then ended are as follows:
g
B N%EE  BHTEM
RRgF Rz  t##gr  EpEEZ
Z2Efh DTERE AVESEE AVERE ifd BE
Fair value
Fair value adjustment on
Revaluation adjustment  prepaid lease Fair value
of buildings ~ on property,  payments on adjustment
held for plant and land under  on intangible Deferred
own use equipment operating leases assets  expenditure Total
ThxL ThxL ThxL AL TAxL Fhx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(10,460) (1312) 15,118 (94,565) 5,314 (85,905)
957 95 (313) 1,510 1,486 9,795
(17) 2 24 (144) 10 (129)
(9,520) (1,219) 14,829 (87,139) 6,810 (76,239)
(4,055) = = = = (4,055)
785 97 (319) 7,705 2,054 10,322
1,537 - - - - 1,537
(213) (41) 510 (2,897) 274 (2,367)
(11,466) (1,163) 15,020 (82,331) 9,138 (70,802)
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30. RZEEHMBRRRZFEH (&) 30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
b) ERRAZEEFEEEREE(E) b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

9]

ATt 8HE B Mim s 2 EEH

BESRT :

REFA B BRREK

REEA B BRR K
BRZELHEAAR

WARERZELEHBEE

(Continued)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances

for financial reporting purposes:

—E-2F —ZTNF
2010 2009
THER FAET
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
Deferred tax assets recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position 24,158 21,639

Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position (94,960) (97,878)
70,802 (76,239)

9]

BB 2B 2 5THR - A5E
VTEFR-_ZT—ZTF+-A=1+—8H
Z RET BB E B #1,475,0008 T (=
TTNA ¢ 43,236,000/ 7T) HERIET
BEEE BARABRBEAZERE
REBTRAIEERZBBER

DA IR KRB A -

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
2(q), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of approximately
HK$1,475,000 (2009: HK$43,236,000) as at 31
December 2010 as it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the tax losses can be utilised will be

available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.
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30. REREMBRRKRZFAER (&)

d)

RERELHEBAMS

RER-_ZTNF-—F—HARBERZ
R ESHE - WENPBIK K
BEEBZEEREEEIRFEXT
oA EBERBEWANFERER
BRI kR B E AR - G AR
EEEHRA (MREEFREZKE) &
10%BEHMBINMER - R-FZ
NEFZA=Z+=8 HEBRBERH
B R IE Y B(2008)15% © Bt - R
—ETHE+_A=+—HABHNE
ERBEFEL 2R E DK EH
REMIBNMEH

R=T—ZTF+=-A=+—8  FHK
BARBZZZENFZADREHFZ
= 2 5475,031,0008 L (=2 F
JUEF 1 271,443,000 70) - HRARAR]
BEIEHZEMB AR ZREBR - A
TEm A KRATRER AT R AR DK - #7
8 R L 9 R % FAR B R A 2 PN BLIE
RIEE R T B §47,503,0008 7T (=
TEALE 27,144,000 7T) °

31. REK B

a)

AEBHFEREZERBOHNFNR
FRZHBRENGARSEHRA
BRAARRRED ZERBORENE
FREBMZEHHE - #HIWT -

30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the EIT Law of the PRC with effect from 1 January
2008 onwards, non-resident enterprises without an
establishment or place of business in the PRC or which
have an establishment or place of business but the
relevant income is not effectively connected with the
establishment or a place of business in the PRC, will be
subject to withholding income tax at the rate of 10%
on various types of passive income such as dividends
derived from sources in the PRC. On 22 February 2008,
the Minister of Finance and State Administration of
Tax approved Caishui (2008) No. 1, pursuant to which
dividend distributions out of retained profits of foreign
investment enterprises prior to 31 December 2007 will be

exempted from withholding income tax.

At 31 December 2010, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries since 2008
amounted to HK$475,031,000 (2009: HK$271,443,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of HK$47,503,000 (20009:
HK$27,144,000) have not been recognised in respect of
the tax that would be payable on the distribution of these
retained profits as the Company controls the dividend
policy of these subsidiaries and it has been determined
that it is probable that profits will not be distributed in

the foreseeable future.

31. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

a)

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning

and the end of the year are set out below:
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31.

At 1 January 2009
Comprehensive income
Loss for the year

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners

Issue of new shares by share
placement

Transaction costs attributable
to issue of new shares

Total transactions with owners

At 31 December 2009 and
1 January 2010
Comprehensive income
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Fair value loss on available-for-sale
equity securities

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners

Issue of new shares by share
placement

Issue of new shares under share
option scheme

Transaction cost attributable
to issue of new shares

Total transactions with owners

At 31 December 2010

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

a) (Continued)

RAEE AVERE 2HER ae
Share Fair value Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total
TEL TEr TAL TAL
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
1,302,481 - (5,927) 1,296,554
- - (25,920) (25,920)

- - (25,920) (25,920)
182,000 - - 182,000
(9,059) - - (9,059)
172,941 - - 172,94
1,475,422 - (31,847) 1,443,575
- - (19,016) (19,016)
- (15,760) - (15,760)

- (15,760) (19,016) (34,776)
462,000 - - 462,000
800 - - 800
(18,872) - - (18,872)
443,928 - - 443,928
1,919,350 (15,760) (50,863) 1,852,721
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31. BRARBEE (&)
b) ZEREBRTRAE

31.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

b) Authorised and issued share capital

AEERAAE
The Group and the Company
Z2-%F ZEINE
2010 2009
Ri%E Ex ] k& B x|
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
Tk TER Th TEL
'000 HK$' 000 "000 HK$" 000
EE-BREEI0ET Authorised - Ordinary shares of
Eak HK$0.10 each
R—=A—BRTZA=1+—H At1Januaryand 31 December 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
BEIRAR-SREE Issued and fully paid - Ordinary
0.10%8 T2 5Bk shares of HK$0.10 each
R—A—-R At 1 January 1,551,143 155,114 1,421,143 142,114
ERRDEERTHRD Issue of new shares by share placement 120,000 12,000 130,000 13,000
BEBRETEBITIRG  Issue of new shares under share
option scheme 800 80 - -
R+=R=1-H At 31 December 1,671,943 167,194 1,551,143 155,114

RZZEZAFEA-_+NH AR

RYy Holdingsiﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ@ﬂi@ﬂ%
(IR F 15058 T
ZET%HE%YY Holdingsﬁﬁ%ﬁ2$

L RBHE

A a]130,000,000% &
THhEREEA])
BT Z B AEYY Holdings:R B AR

ARH (1=

130,000,0000% 31 & &A% 1 (r_??jm
:%%himﬁ$ﬁ

iwﬁ%$lﬁj)
—TENFERBERHAER =

ni/\ﬁ +T—HZER - =FZ jﬁwﬁ%
HIE 7 TS FIEFE4) A185,941,000

PBIT °
138 R=T-FF+A+=B  ARAIRE
Eﬁﬂxﬁéﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂxﬁéﬁ? B1.107%8
Annual Report JCBC 3 N 3£ 17800,000M8 L@ A 17 ©

2010 3

R(2)#% & 1%1.50

On 28 July 2009, the Company and YY Holdings entered into
a placing and subscription agreement with a placing agent
for: (1) the placement of 130,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company owned by YY Holdings at a price of HK$1.50
per share (“the 2009's Placing”); and (2) the subscription
of 130,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company by
YY Holdings at a price of HK$1.50 per share (the “2009's
Subscription”). The 2009's Placing and 2009's Subscription
were both completed on 11 August 2009. The net proceeds
from the 2009's Subscription amount to approximately
HK$185,941,000.

On 12 October 2010, the Company allotted and issued
800,000 ordinary shares by way of share options exercised

under share option scheme at HK$1.10 per share.
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31. REAR@EEE)

b)

ZERERITRA(E)

RZZE—ZF+ATEA  KAFAR
YY Holdingsgﬁi—%EE%1JtIEETﬁ%—
ELE RRBEHZE S (i) BRBAR3.95
B Z BISELEYY Ho|d|ngs}5ﬁﬁﬁ2
N2 ®]120,000,000% i@ Hm ([=F
—TERERHE])  RQ)KRFRK3.95
BT Z B AYY HoldingsREE AR &
120,000,000/ 5 E@m (=2 —=

EREEIF]) T —TERELEHE
&:ﬁ—%iwﬁ$ﬁﬂaﬂf7 z
FHA-t+EARK - —E—TFERHE

BEHEZBRIBRFEY 7,%455,1 28,000
BT o

EREBAEABRESIREIRZK
B &%K@Eﬂ@%i?ﬁﬁ&—%z
] ““TZJS’AETZ%‘J%

EEZEEREN

) RGEE
BEREESARE(—ANNF
BEIA) - ROEBERAIMRDIKT
ANBRE R ERERZED K

BEZ B NRBHKA B
REEXBRETEEEIRE
% o

i) BAMEE
EAGBEASERESESEA
MEBERZ A REETEHEZ
1B -

31.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

b)

Authorised and issued share capital (Continued)

On 14 October 2010, the Company and YY Holdings
entered into another placing and subscription agreement
with a placing agent for: (1) the placement of
120,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company owned by
YY Holdings at a price of HK$3.95 per share (“the 2010’s
Placing”); and (2) the subscription of 120,000,000 new
ordinary shares of the Company by YY Holdings at a price
of HK$3.95 per share (the “2010’s Subscription”). The
2010’s Placing and 2010’s Subscription were completed
on 27 October 2010. The net proceeds from the 2010’s

Subscription amount of approximately HK$455,128,000.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the

Company'’s residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves

i) Share premium
Under the Companies Law (1998 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, the share premium account is
distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of

business.

ii)  Capital reserve
The capital reserve represents the capitalised
aggregate appropriations to the statutory
reserves made by the Group as a result of Group

reorganisation.
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0 MEZHEERBEMN(E)

i) EFEEZE
BFEHFHRELERSRE (N
MRIEERIE) BIFER AT 2K
EEMECEZSR EFEMHEE
B TR BEWN 209 E B
BRIEEREF 2 BER T
BRI - EFEMFERHATADIK

V) ETEE
BERBBMNEZEZEFHES IR
BA B2 ER B 8RB A e AR
RAIPRHBEKLZ HEARZ R
AIERMEL  TEEZEZE
£l

FAERECTARBRBEFE
ZEB(A) L AERAERE
R WEREITZERRG ZET R
BEEBRTBINEETIMER
225% °

RARETRPEZHEABE
REREREEHEEREZYD
BesrtRA kRGBT 4R 2
10%  BEZE#REEESRESTM
BARZ50% B - EH 2 B RA
RAEEES A REE ZA#E
1

W LG
FE 3 5 2 HE R B SME
BB RRMEL 2 AR
£ - HREBYRBH B0
ZBE BT AR -

vi) A FEGE
AT ERERENRAGRARLER
HAS AR EREE R LA
FEzRFEEFE - WREM
28 2 ERTHBUR T AR ©

31.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

)

fii)

iv)

v)

Vi)

Buildings revaluation reserve

The buildings revaluation reserve comprises the
difference between the revalued amount, net of
deferred tax, and the carrying amount of buildings
held for own use. The buildings revaluation reserve
has been set up and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for buildings held
for own use as set out in note 2(g). The buildings
revaluation reserve is not distributable.

Statutory reserves

Transfers from retained earnings to statutory
reserve fund were made in accordance with the
relevant PRC rules and regulations and the articles
of association of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC and were approved by the
respective boards of directors.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to make good
previous years' losses, if any, and may be converted
into paid-up capital provided that the balance of the
statutory reserve fund after such conversion is not
less than 25% of the entity’s registered capital.

The Company’s certain subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to transfer a minimum of 10% of their net
profits, as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations to the statutory
reserve until the reserve balances reaches 50% of
the registered capital. The transfer must be made
before distribution of dividends to owners.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(t).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net
change on the fair value of available-for-sale equity
securities held at the end of the reporting period
and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2(f).
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31. RARGEE (B

d)

e)

EEZ T H2 RER
RZE—ZF+ZA=+—H A#
APERTHEBAZARRFEBHEBEL
7$1,868,487,0008 7T (ZE T ML F :
1,443,575,000/%7T) -+ HRBEAAF
& 17 % {& 491,919,350,000/8 7T (= &
T 1 1,475,422,000087T) - F B
518 450,863,000 L (Z T T N 4F :
31,847,000/ 7T) « EEBEZEET KR
B2ZB ARRVBEENEER
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REARRE AKEEREAEAK
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AFBRRIHEBEENRIE
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31.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

d)

e)

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2010, the aggregate amount of
the Company’s reserves available for distribution to
owners was approximately HK$1,868,487,000 (2009:
HK$1,443,575,000). This includes the Company’s share
premium of approximately HK$1,919,350,000 (2009:
HK$1,475,422,000) less and accumulated losses of
approximately HK$50,863,000 (2009: HK$31,847,000)
and is available for distribution provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed, the
Company will be able to pay off its debts as they fall due

in the ordinary course of business.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefit for other shareholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost

of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher stakeholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
in light of changes in economic conditions. In order to
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares, return capital to shareholders or sell

assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as the Group’s bank borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents over its equity. There is no net
debts for the Group as at 31 December 2010 and 2009.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are

subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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32. &IE

a)

RERARGEER  NEER
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P HE o

32. COMMITMENTS

mae a)

provided for in the

follows:

Acquisition and construction of property,
plant and equipment
Equity investment in respect of formation

of a jointly controlled entity

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the

authorised capital commitments contracted but not

consolidated financial statements as

The Group
—E-EF —TTAF
2010 2009
THER FAET
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
6,212 25,548
- 80,508
6,212 106,056

The equity investment represents the capital contribution
in respect of the formation of a jointly controlled entity in
the PRC to engage in research, development, production

and sale of phosphor products. The Group and the

joint venture partner holds equity interests of the jointly

controlled entity of 49.9% and 50.1% respectively.
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32, RIE(E) 32.

a)

(&)
bR Lt ESN - AR L EARES T
BZEATNERBEERRENT

COMMITMENTS (Continued)

a) (Continued)
In addition to the above, the Group’s share of capital
commitments contracted but not provided for of its

jointly controlled entity is as follows:

rEE
The Group

—E-ZF ZETNF

2010 2009

FTER FAT

HK$' 000 HK$" 000
Iehg R BEY ¥ BRE Acquisition and construction of property,

e plant and equipment 53,910 =
BNGLERNHT I Prepayment of prepaid lease payments on

BEEE land under operating leases 915 =

54,825 -

RERMEEER  RIETATHEZ
T RBFELEERBRMAMN
MRERSFRIRAENAT

b) At the end of the reporting period, operating lease
commitments for future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and

buildings which fall due as follows:

~EHE

The Group
—E-TF —TENF
2010 2009
FET FET
HK$' 000 HK$" 000
1R Within one year 1,605 1,151
F2EFSF (BEBEREME)  In the second to fifth year inclusive 2,485 304
4,090 1,455

REMENFEAKREREE THA
ERBENEENZES - BHOKME
ETVRBERET - THRB=F - #fl

BEHESRIAEE -

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its office and factory premises. Leases and
rentals are negotiated and fixed for an average of three years.

None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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33.
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REHHE ESURNEAFHAKEEM
BEREZBEERZARE2RBESR (BEX
RAREMBRRZES) ~ ERRER - #
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EBH BN RS RF 2 RR T RS
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TREFERHEABMEEREETS
EEAZHEAEAERETE  ETEE8E
BRBER L AR TF 2R T ER
MEtEFLMRR AR - RERILER SRR X
EBERILE-SREBRE ERMBEEMT
m o BB DR - MR LA
REZHABBREEERRRAZLE TN
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=T—HLEMEFE  ARARLERBBR

e

1 o

TEEHEAARESEE  ETAIRE
MERARBRNDHKTE BERENER
AT A% R AARRBRM - FHERTE - A
RERABRHEE="TZRSE

33.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 4
June 2004, the shareholders of the Company approved the
termination of the Company’s share option scheme adopted
on 14 October 1999 (the “Old Scheme"”) and the adoption of a

new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”).

Under the New Scheme, the directors may, at their discretion,
invite full-time employees of the Group, including directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries, any of its shareholders,
suppliers, customers, consultants, advisers and joint venture
partners or business alliance who have contributed or will
contribute to the Group to take up options to subscribe for
shares in the Company subject to the terms and conditions
stipulated therein. A nominal consideration will be paid by
the eligible participants for each lot of share options granted.
An option may be exercised at any time during a period to be
determined and identified by the directors to each grantee at
the time of making the offer, but in any event, shall not exceed
the period of ten years from the date of grant of the particular
option, subject to the early termination of the New Scheme.
Upon the termination of the Old Scheme, no further share
options were granted thereunder, but in all other respects, the
provisions of the Old Scheme remained in force and all share
options granted prior to such termination continued to be
valid and exercisable in accordance therewith. No option has
been granted by the Company during the two years ended 31
December 2010 and 2009.

The exercise price is to be determined by the directors of the
Company, and should not be less than the highest of the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of offer,
the average closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer and the

nominal value of the Company’s shares.
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33. BIRESE(®) 33.

BE-T-EF+-A=+—ALEEHRE
2B

REAH fi:d

Date of grant Exercisable period

3 Z%F2= ZERZE-AttH
-B=1=H EZE-ZE-AZ15H

Employee 23 January 2003 27 January 2003-26 January 2013

RE-TTNF+-A=+—HLFEZH
BESB T ;

RLAH ffeH

Date of grant Exercisable period

3 Z%F2= ZERZE-AttH
-B=1=H EZE-ZE-AZ15H

Employee 23 January 2003 27 January 2003-26 January 2013

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Movements of share options for the year ended 31 December

2010 are as follows:

kg

Exercise

price

1.10

REBRETFRAZRHHE
Number of shares issuable under options

R-%-2%
-A-H
HATE

Outstanding

at 1 January

2010

1,500,000

R=%-%F

tZR=+-8

ERRH ERfiR ERRU WA R
Granted Exercised Forfeited Outstanding at
during the during the during the 31 December
year year year 2010

= (800,000) = 700,000

Movements of share options for the year ended 31 December

2009 are as follows:

1R

Exercise

price

REBRET TR RO%A

Number of shares issuable under options

R-TEhE
-A-8
HATTR

Outstanding
at 1 January
2009

1,500,000

FREEIY:
t-A=1-H

FRRL R ERRR HATE
Granted Exercised Forfeited ~ Outstanding at
during the during the during the 31 December
year year year 2009

- - - 1,500,000
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33.

34.

BREE (8

RERAMAEER  RIBEFTEIE LM
RIIEZERESRZKAATRNDEE B
700,0008% (ZZFZ N4 © 1,500,0000%) 14
RZBAAREETRMNZ0.04% (Z2F
NE 10.10%) c IREFTE - RAEMEERER
BADNBIRR A FT - AR 2 BREY AT
AHBBARRRBETRND210% °

R-ZE—ZEE+-_A=+—BHHKRTHEZ
BREZHTANFHOERE (ZEEAN
F=F)

BEALRS

a) HREALZXS
EERR FATIALEBASEZ
BABEAL:

AT EB HAKEZBE

FREE ARBMITER

Bz DRF ARERITER
HMEARAT BREEAR
([E#Hzs]) s
BRRIBA (R E) et ASE AR
MHBRAF B
(TERRIBA )

33.

34.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the number of shares in
respect of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the Old Scheme was 700,000 (2009:
1,500,000), representing approximately 0.04% (2009: 0.10%)
of the shares of the Company in issue at that date. The total
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Old Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without

prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.

The options outstanding at 31 December 2010 have remaining

contractual lives of approximately 2 years (2009: 3 years).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
a) Transactions with related parties
The directors consider that the following are the

significant related parties of the Group during the year:

Relationship with

Name of party the Group

Jiang Quanlong Executive director of
the Company

Wuxi Pan-Asia Jiang Quanlong, an

Environmental executive director of

Protection Technologies

Limited (“Wuxi Pan-Asia”)

the Company, has a

beneficial interest

OSRAM (China) Fluorescent
Materials Co. Ltd. (“OCFM")

Jointly controlled entity

of the Group
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3. BEAERS ()
a) HEAEALZRE(E)
) TEREZHzEM
BHE-T-ZTF+=-A=1+—~H
FE  AEEGRRASEERYE
MEMREREINZESER
#)/250,000%8 T (Z2TNF -
245,000%7T) °

i) THEBZEZHZERH
HE-_T—ZF+=-A=1+—H
LFE  AEERAAEEREH
MEMREHCEIH2HEE
F# 561,000 (ZTENF
60,00077T) °

iif) 25,238 B WA
HE-_ZT-ZF+-A=+—H
LHFEE AEEERAEH T
2 it 1) 3 WELE € 493,0007% 7T
ZEENFBAT) o

v)  TBCEIEAH B2 B E
HE-_ZT—ZF+=-A=1+—
HEFE AEBLHEERD
5,639,000 L (ZZETNF : T
BT) TERRIBAHE -

EERR LRSI —REBB
BRARERAXGRAGTLEARERE
RERDZHHER Y LB EBYIE
WITESHER -

a)

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Transactions with related parties (Continued)

i)

i)

fii)

iv)

Rental expenses to Jiang Quanlong

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the
Group paid rental expenses of approximately
HK$250,000 (2009: HK$245,000) to Jiang Quanlong

for providing premises to the Group.

Rental expenses to Wuxi Pan-Asia
During the year ended 31 December 2010, the
Group paid rental expenses of approximately
HK$61,000 (2009: HK$60,000) to Wuxi Pan-Asia for
providing premises to the Group.

Rental income from Wuxi Pan-Asia

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the
Group received rental income of approximately
HK$3,000 (2009: HK$Nil) for providing premises to

Wuxi Pan- Asia.

Sales to OCFM

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the
Group sold products approximately HK$5,639,000
(2009: HK$Nil) to OCFM.

The directors are of the opinion that the above

transactions were entered into under the normal

course of business and on normal commercial terms

or in accordance with the agreements governing such

transactions, and this has been confirmed by independent

non-executive directors.
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3. BEAETRZ (&)

35.

b) HITEEEBAEZXS
IEEBABZME (B EIRTH
BN TARARREREZ SR NMEE
IOMBEEZXNTETRSFMAL
ZEB)MT

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

b) Transactions with key management personnel
Emoluments for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed
in note 9 and certain of the highest paid employees as

disclosed in note 10 are as follows:

rEH

The Group
—E-ZF —ETNF
2010 2009
FTHExT FET
HK$'000 HK$" 000
EXR%EHe  ZBEREYREA  Basic salaries, allowance and benefits-in-kind 3,774 3,847
RIRAE FI T8I 5K Retirement benefits scheme contributions 56 54
3,830 3,901

o HBEEAIZEH
R-E-—ZEER-_ZTTNFE+_A
—t+—BHEBEATZEB ZFBE
R HIEE25 °

BEEBREEREREE

FEEZIESRTIABEREMREEE
HE - BERRTER  RRBIRTER
R M B 50 e L A FE MR~ AN R R S L At B
NRARBITER - eBMTAZHBRER
B - ZFERTAZEREREAREE
ARXBRERTELZEERR RBES
Rk MERREREEERR -

35.

c¢) Balances with related parties
Details of the balances with related parties as at 31
December 2010 and 2009 are set out in note 25.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include cash and cash
equivalents, pledged bank deposits, restricted bank balances,
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and bank
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk
and currency risk arises in the normal course of the Group's

business.
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BHEBEERERBEE)

a) fFERAR
) RZZT— ¢+ A=+—8"
BAGEERR ARG MBI E

ii)

%%%ﬂé?%&?ﬂﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ
‘Bz HRmEE -

ERERR 2 ERERRE
m%Wﬂ'a@ﬁEﬂifﬁﬁ
EHER THEBREERBETT
FEER  c AEBERTFTHHEE
ERP 2SR KK ETTE
Bl - Z ST A E BB
INBIMRE2ELRE A ZX
Heen TEEREFHEERKR

BREERREEREY B -
AEEYEBREMEEERA

AERm - EE—RMEFHELH
#£180H A FH -

REBEAAZZEFERBREER
BEREPZENFRATE &
FPREETERBER 2 #/XE R
NEeHEERREMTE B2
ERE RERAMAEZERD - K
EEAXKRBEZAEFPRAKX
EPREWERAE ST REFE
ERBD B A21.42% (ZFE N
F :11.54%)45.89% (ZEZF
NLE :37.15%) °

BRASER B BUIRR R EAM

BURZZEERBRZE(LEES
KT E24 -

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
a) Credit risk

i)

As at 31 December 2010, the maximum exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position after deducting any impairment

allowance.

In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to
minimise risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and condition
is performed on each major customer periodically.
These evaluations focus on the customers’ past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customers as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customers
operate. The Group does not require collateral in
respect of its financial assets. Debts are usually due

within 180 days from the date of billing.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and
country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At
the end of the reporting period, the Group has
a certain concentration of credit risk as 21.42%
(2009: 11.54%) and 45.89% (2009: 37.15%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group's
largest customer and the five largest customers

respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade

and other receivables are set out in note 24.
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BEERERER SRR (&)
a) fFERR(E)

b)

i)y MEDNERREBRRKENE
WEASEEFRZERERE &

SERETME - SREBMAE
ZERBRER ENKERERE

EG - ERE LT ERE AR
EEMBBIEBITRES -

RBESERR
AEEBETZBYLEERARRL
EEZRER @ﬁﬁﬁ@%Zﬁ

HEEREEERURCERRESH
ko EEEBEESI AR - HAEE -
REBZHRER/TEHERE R LB
ZHRBESER  NRETEREZH
ﬁﬁﬁ%zﬁ'ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%}ﬁ@ﬂ'\ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi
CREERGSEANAEEERE -
J:A;%Eﬁ%&ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁmétﬁﬁx ®
SEEBRITEFERRBEERIIR

NTRBESREIAKERARA
ZEBAERARMBEEER - ERE
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

a)

b)

Credit risk (Continued)

iii)  Cash is deposited with financial institutions with
high credit ratings that are located where the
group companies are operated and the Group has
exposure limit to any single financial institution.
Given their high credit ratings, management does
not expect any of these financial institutions will fail

to meet their obligations.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants to ensure that
it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term. The Group relies on bank borrowings as

a source of liquidity.

The following liquidity table set out the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period
of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group and the

Company is required to pay:
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B EREE R ERBUK (&) 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
b) HRBELEA(E) b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
t%-%f IEINE
2010 2009
-ERg -EME RENL  GHANE -Epg CENE AR AHRAR
REREE  REAR  IENRN REREAR BEE GEREE  REMR  DEUR BeNEgE L]
More than ~ More than Total More than  More than Total
Within 1 yearbut 2 yearsbut  contractual Within -~ Tyearbut ~ 2yearsbut  contractual

Tyearor  lessthan  lessthan undiscounted  Caying  Tyearor  lessthan  lessthan undiscounted  Camying
ondemand  2years  Syears cashflow  amount ondemand 2 years Syears  cashflow — amount
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn T T Tin Tin Tin
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

458 The Group

EfES Trade payables 80,73 - - NI I 766 = - T T66S
BRAZR  Accoued expenses and
EfERT other payables 27402 - S /S | B T - 711 BT )
EREZIE  Amounts due to directors i) - - 0 pi[ 709 - = 709 709
RER Bank borrowings 101,393 - - M3 %9389 11755 119359 19400 256313 243783
209,788 - -078 207784 31892 11939 19409 30660 358,130
507 The Company

ERAXR  Acoued expenses and

EfERZ other pajables 447 - - 4747 4747 7297 - - 7297 7297
FERHBRFZE Amounts due to subsidiaries 264 - - 264 264 2% = = 25 25
EREZHE  Amounts due to diectors m - - m m 875 - - 875 875
e Bark borronings - - - - < 10646 119359 19409 5014 230,500

5,281 - - 5,281 5,281 114,673 119,359 19.409 253,441 10927
METABETEZRSE LS (BRE) S None of bank borrowings contain a repayment on
Ss)ﬁ[ﬁﬁ‘ﬂ#&%za’\]iﬁu —EEAHEBS demand clause in relation to HK (Int) 5, Presentation of
REREREEINTEHERNSEIA Financial Statements - Classification by the Borrower
FIRBEREBIER - of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand

Clause.
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35. IEMEREBEEREE (8) 35.

o RMEEE
REERADTBESE BT EF
RAEHNRERREFEEE  -BR
RIRITIE R - IR 4R 1T 4 88 R AR AT
EROB R EER -

) MEEE
TRAREIAKERADAH
RITERNARAFEEBOH

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
c¢) Interest rate risk

The Group and the Company are exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents,
pledged bank deposits, restricted bank balances and bank

borrowings at floating interest rate.

i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile

of the Group’s and the Company’s bank borrowings

EHEE at the end of reporting period:
A58 |
The Group The Company
3-%F ZTENE ZE-%f ZTENE
2010 2009 2010 2009
B ERZ BRI ik
Effective Effective Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate interest rate interest rate
%  TEn %  TEn %  TEn %  TEn
%  HKS'000 %  HK$'000 %  HKS'000 %  HK$'000
EEHEEH Fixed rate borrowings TEEANA - 650 155000 FEAN/A - 650 155,000
FHNEER Variable-rate borrowings 328510 99,389 036443 88783 FEAN/A - 326443 77,500
FEREE Total bank borrowings 99,389 23,783 - 232,500
HEHZER Fixed rate borrowings as
HERESEN a percentage of total
antt borrowings 0% 64% 0% 67%

152

Annual Report
2010 54




B 5 ¥k = Bt 5E

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-E-Z2F+=-A=+—HIHFE For the year ended 31 December 2010

BHEBEERERBEE)

o R=EmEEE)
i) EERS

BEREENETANAEERE
BEMRITER  ZREIRITE
B ERRITERRRITESRY
B AR E T - KRR HH
HEEANAXESHTETER

o

ok

RZE—ZTF+=-A=+—8"
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁh“ﬂ%%T ARSI

{RET R R EEE A TS0
fﬁ%%ﬂmﬁxdﬁwmﬁﬁ$¢
&% M 493,478,0008 T (— T F
N4 : 3,807,000/ 7T) ° ?FIJi
BEASTRYGRAES
AW m & o

P BURE DT TR AR A R R
HHREEIESXZMET -
WEARZBMEMEESRTA
B F = R o SOMEE 2 A A sk
TRAEEEEHEE T —EHH
HEEERIEHRAAFNENAE
AL BT - —EZNEFER
VARERIEEER DA

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

9]

Interest rate risk (Continued)

ii)

Sensitivity analysis

All of the pledged bank deposits, restricted bank
balances, fixed bank deposits and bank borrowings
of the Group which are fixed rate instruments are
insensitive to any change in interest rates. A change
in interest rates at the end of the reporting period
would not affect profit or loss.

At 31 December 2010, it is estimated that a
general increase or decrease of 50 basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would decrease or increase the Group's profit for
the year by approximately HK$3,478,000 (2009:
HK$3,807,000). Other components of consolidated
equity would not change in response to the general

increase or decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at
that date. The 50 basis points increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of reasonably
possible changes in interest rates over the period
until the end of the next reporting period. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009.
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35. IEMEREBEREE (8) 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

d EWEkR

d)

ARBETRRANAEHERNINGERER
LASMEEETTE B E S B R -

D) FTREZ BEERE

TRAVASEFKANEER
BRI EEANEEEZ
ERRBAEEXABEMAREEAE

LA
o

g o
PR

AEE

e R Kt R
ReRReSERR
EAEFREBENR
ROEE

FRZERS KR

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables

Bank borrowings

Overall exposure to currency risk

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which

they relate.

) Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Group’s exposure
to currency risk arising from recognised assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which they

relate.

The Group

FEgzEMAR (UTRTIE)

Exposure to currency risk (expressed in HK$’000)

-2-2% ZITNE
2010 2009
B EYy B BT e BT
United Hong United Hong
States Kong States Kong

EURO Dollars Dollars EURO Dollars Dollars

- 42,532 - = 53,311 =
35,364 65779 200,102 - 115,024 100
- (1,186) - = (3,344) =
- (5,348) - - (243,783) -
35364 101,777 200,102 - (78,792) 100
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35. BEAREEBBEREE (&) 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
d EBE¥RR(E) d) Currency risk (Continued)
D BTEREZ B (E) i) Exposure to currency risk
VNN The Company
FREzZEYRER
(LFETHE)

Exposure to currency risk
(expressed in HK$’000)

—g-2F& —TTAE
2010 2009
%57

United States Dollars

FEUWBR X R E A FEUFR  Trade and other receivables 67 67
HehBEESEMEEL Cash and cash equivalents 28,055 111,267
BT REMMERI  Accrued expenses and other payables (1,172) (586)
RITIEE Bank borrowings - (232,500)
&S EEEER R Overall exposure to currency risk 26,950 (121,752)
AN £ (B35 B 3f 4 St AMNIE B (BB EL The Group currently does not have a foreign
GNEE SR SR o NEE 1S ) Ex currency hedging policy in respect its of foreign
RONERER TEEATEERE currency debts. The Group will monitor its foreign
BEREANEERER currency exposure closely and will consider hedging

significant currency exposure should the need arises.
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35. MR EE R RBUK(4) 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
d E¥RRE(E) d)  Currency risk (Continued)
i) BEEST i) Sensitivity analysis
TRIAPAEENRAFHELEE The following table indicates the approximate
AREXRAEEEC EHHAS change in the Group's profit after tax and retained
I B A0 12 0% A S AR B 0 A 2 B AY profits in response to reasonably possible changes
28 - in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group

has significant exposure at the end of the reporting

period.
rEH The Group
BB R
IEEE =R RERF 2
#in,/ (Ad) #m/ (A)
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
in foreign on profit after taxation
exchange rates and retained profits
—E-ZF —EENF
2010 2009
THERT FHAT
HK$'000 HK$’ 000
eV United States Dollars 5% 5,089 (3,940)
(5)% (5,089) 3,940
BT Hong Kong Dollars 5% (10,005) (5)
(5)% 10,005 5
BT EURO 5% 1,768 -
(5)% (1,768) -
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35 BAREEEEREEK (&) 35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
d E#®BRERE(E) d) Currency risk (Continued)
i) HEESH () i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
AT The Company

e United States Dollars

LRGRE DT RRERE
RERPHEERCSHELER
RAEBRZEREZSMTA
BB MER - MArAEMbE
BLERME  BRHITE -
RENZDOMERKREAREE
ERBRBREN  BRER - £
HESHNEEFEFEEXTNEE
T—ERRAREER LHR2
ARREBEEZEY FEOMZE
ZTNFHRAZERET -

exchange rates

BRBL BB R
SN =R RitBBEZ
#m,/ (Ad) 2,/ (Ad)
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
in foreign on profit after taxation

and accumulated losses

—g2-8F  -TEAG
2010 2009

FER FiE

HK$' 000 HK$' 000

5% (1,348) 6,088
(5)% 1,348 (6,088)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to the Group’s exposure to
currency risk for financial instruments in existence at
that date, and that all other variables, in particular
interest rates, remain constant. Results of the
analysis as presented in the above table represent
an aggregation of the effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit after taxation. The stated changes
represent management’s assessment of reasonably
possible changes in foreign exchange rates over the
period until the end of the next reporting period.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for
20009.
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e) AYE
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E-EZEFER-ZZFTNFTZA=1—
HrREERS
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FET
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WHERREEE X FERE -

i) RITEHN
BREGREIBABEENRTE
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MEREESRE N FEBESE

i) BRFEIEZ 2 TR
TREJNNERAFELEER @ 2
ERMBRELENETR 2/
B BEIMATE 2 A TESRE
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ZeMIAZREMB EPEE
oz TAZAFEZH
EREATEFAEBEEAZRE
BAZR - FRSHRRAEWT :

- FRBESM) FIREE
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B CREHE) i BAFE

- FRARERETST
BUSRMITAZRE A
AEEHABBHER KA
BENABEMSEIE G
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

e)

Fair value

The carrying amounts of significant financial assets and

liabilities approximate their respective fair values as at 31
December 2010 and 2009.

i)

fii)

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other

receivables, trade and other payables

The carrying values approximate their fair values

because of the short maturity of these items.

Bank borrowings

The carrying amount of bank borrowings
approximate their fair values based on the
borrowing rates currently available for bank

borrowings with similar terms and maturities.

Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value
of financial instruments measured at fair value at
the end of the reporting period across the three
levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS
7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair
value of each financial instrument categorised in
its entirety based on the lowest level of input that
is significant to that fair value measurement. The

levels are defined as follows:

- Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured
using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical financial instruments;

- Level 2: fair values measured using quoted
prices in active markets for similar financial
instruments, or using valuation techniques
in which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable market data;

and
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35. KEREEBREREE @)

e) DFEGE)
iii) BRFEIEEHTA(E)

- FBM(BREEFR - FRME
AEEHABBRLIFERA
BIEmSEE 2 HERME

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

e) Fair value (Continued)

fii)

BEAFME-
EE Assets
A SR Available-for-sales

S
g

FR - BRREIRTEEME
BT A

f) fHEAFE
T BRfETe I ARATFEZ
FEFEAMBR -

2K AL
Az

ATEBRERBHNAEE 2 S
B - R B R AT
38 -

equity securities

Financial instruments carried at fair value

(Continued)

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured
using valuation techniques in which any
significant input is not based on observable

market data.

KEBREDT
The Group and the Company
ERE E28 E3 et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FHET FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
14,240 = = 14,240

During the year there were no financial instruments in Level 2

and Level 3.

f)  Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and

assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial

instruments.

Securities

Fair value is based on quoted market prices at the

end of the reporting period without any deduction for

transactions costs.
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B 5 ik 2

S Turnover
$HE R AR Cost of sales
EH Gross profit
B B AT E A Profit/(loss) before
(&) taxation
Fri5 Income tax
REZHRF Profit/(loss)
(E18) for the year
FEAh : Attributable to:
VIN/NEIEZ 2N Owners of the
Company
FEE MR Non-controlling interests
MENEE Current assets
FEREBEE Non-current assets
BEBE Total assets
REEE Current liabilities
FERBEE Non-current liabilities
aERE Total liabilities
BEEFE Net assets
& 7R Share capital
& Reserves
RARHEA A Equity attributable to
FE1E T %= owners of the Company
FEIERRHE AR Non-controlling interests
B E Total equity

BE+-A=+—-BLEE

For the year ended 31 December

—E-TF C—ZTThFE ZZTTENF ZZTTLHF ZTTRF
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
FTERT FAT FHEIT FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
1,319,504 1,211,683 1,364,890 1,385,345 1,031,082
(1,031,430) (980,246) (1,015,603) (931,232) (732,577)
288,074 231,437 349,287 454,113 298,505
177,719 144,342 (118,551) 396,134 274,075
(38,678) (59,659) (53,856) (97,054) (62,384)
139,041 84,683 (172,407) 299,080 211,691
133,359 84,593 (170,972) 295,045 209,255
5,682 90 (1,435) 4,035 2,436
139,041 84,683 (172,407) 299,080 211,691
R+t=—A=+—8H
As at 31 December

—E-ZEF CZITTHhE ZTENF ZITTtF ZTIERF
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
FTERT FHEIT FHET FHET FHT
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2,324,787 1,866,841 1,713,801 1,536,144 1,384,641
1,442,025 1,372,740 1,500,535 1,262,120 1,080,770
3,766,812 3,239,581 3,214,336 2,798,264 2,465,411
230,917 257,959 479,470 248,340 227,454
94,960 233,503 261,337 - -
325,877 491,462 740,807 248,340 227,454
3,440,935 2,748,119 2,473,529 2,549,924 2,237,957
167,194 155,114 142,114 142,114 142,114
3,237,179 2,563,706 2,302,253 2,379,578 2,074,519
3,404,373 2,718,820 2,444,367 2,521,692 2,216,633
36,562 29,299 29,162 28,232 21,324
3,440,935 2,748,119 2,473,529 2,549,924 2,237,957
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